#### DOCUMENT RESUME

ED 248 322

INSTITUTION

CE 039 432 /

AUTHOR TITLE ~ Oaklief, Charles R.; Oaklief, Margery M.

Participation in Kansas Noncredit Adult Education, A

Survey of Seven Participant Groups. Final Report. Kansas State Univ., Manhattan. Dept. of Adult and

Occupational Education.

SPONS AGENCY Education Commission of the States, Denver, Colo.;

Kansas State Board of Regents, Topeka.; Kellogg

Foundation, Battle Creek, Mich.

PUB DATE

Dec 83

NOTE

80p.; For a related document, see ED 246 191.

PUE TYPE \_\_Reports - Research/Technical (143)

EDRS PRICE .
DESCRIPTORS

MF01/PC04 Plus Postage.

Adult Basic Education; \*Adult Education; \*Adult Students; Community Colleges; Continuing Education; \*Educational Benefits; Educational Needs; Extension

Education; Nurses; Outcomes of Education; \*Participant Characteristics; Participant

\*Participant Characteristics; Participant — Satisfaction; Postsecondary Education; Professional Continuing Education; Program Improvement; State Programs; Statewide Planning; \*Student Attitudes; \*Student Educational Objectives; Student Needs;

Vocational Education; Vocational Schools

#### **ABSTRACT**

This project studied participation and benefits of noncredit adult education in Kansas. It was geared to determine appropriate roles for the state of Kansas in delivering educational services for adults through lifelong learning and noncredit educational programs. The population included 1,334 participants in noncredit adult learning experiences from these seven provider groups: adult basic education, business managers, vocational-technical schools, community colleges, nurses, and Cooperative Extension Pride and Non-Pride. A random sample of participants was selected from each of the seven groups and a survey was administered. The instrument was designed to determine demographic data and characteristics of the adult learning experience, along with the benefits derived from participation in noncredit adult education. Respondents replied to a 19-item benefit scale. This project report analyzes the responses by group and the following variables: sex/marital status, age, employment, education, number of learning experiences, enrollment reason, cost and length of \_ learning experience, recognition received for completion, perceived satisfaction and strength of learning experience, opportunity to participate, relevance of benefits, and degree of personal benefit. Recommendations for program improvement, data tables, and the survey instrument are provided. (KC)

\* Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made from the original document.

# PARTICIPATION IN KANSAS NONCREDIT ADULT EDUCATION

A Survey of Seven Participant Groups

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION
EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION
CENTER (EHIC)

This document has been reproduced as received from the person or organization originating it.

Minor changes have been made to improve reproduction quality

Points of view or opinions stated in this document do not necessarily represent official NIE position or policy

Charles R. Oaklief Ph.D.

Margery M. Oaklief Ph.D.

"PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE THIS MATERIAL HAS BEEN GRANTED BY

TO THE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER (ERIC)."

A Final Report Submitted to

The Education Commission of the States

and

The Kansas Board of Regents

December, 1983

This project was funded in part by a grant from the Kellogg Foundation and the Education Commission of the States through the Kansas Board of Regents.



Participation in Kansas Noncredit Adult Education:
A Survey of Seven Participant Groups

Charles R. Oaklief

Margery M. Oak'llef

Kansas State University

A Report Submitted to the Education Commission of the States

and

The Kansas Board of Regents

1983

·KSU

#### . ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are most appreciative for the opportunity to contribute toward the Kansas portion of the Lifelong Learning Project, funded by the W. K. Kellogg Foundation and conducted through the research program of the Education Commission of the States. Special appreciation is expressed for the excellent cooperation of the organizational contacts and staff involved in the identification and data collection process which was critical, for without this key ingredient the survey analysis would not exist.

The project was developed under the careful leadership of Dr. Gene Kasper, Kansas Board of Regents, and benefited from the support and guidance of Dr. Ralph Field, Head of the Adult and Occupational Education Department of the College of Education, Kansas State University. Special recognition is also given to the late Dr. Robert Scotí, Professor of Adult and Occupational Education at Kansas State University. Contributions of Dr. Don Hoyt, Director of Educational Resources, Kansas State University, were most appreciated. Dr. Hoyt gave design and structure to the survey instrument and has provided continuous advice throughout the research project. The excellent typing and word processing skills of Lois Brunmeier and Marilyn Sharp provided working copies and the final document.

College of Education Adult and Occupational Education Kansas State University Manhattan, Kansas 66506 December, 1983 Charles R. Oaklief, Associate Professor

Margery Oaklief Assistant Professor

#### PREFACE

Participation in Kansas Noncredit Adult Education: A Survey of Seven

Participant Groups is the final report on a study of the benefits and

characteristics of Kansas noncredit adult learners. The study represents the

Kansas portion of the Lifelong Learning Project funded by the W. K. Kellogg

Foundation and conducted through the research program of the Education

Commission of the States. Kansas was selected as one of six pilot states to

contribute survey data and project information relative to the identification

of an appropriate role for lifelong learning.

The preliminary project report titled <u>The Benefits and Characteristics</u> of Adult Learning in Kansas: A Survey of Participants in Noncredit learning <u>Experiences</u> was completed in 1982 and was the forerunner of this research project. The current research report represents the synthesis of data and findings from an expanded survey population with findings of greater significance and depth accruing to seven participant groups.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
PREFACE
TABLE OF CONTENTS (
LIST OF TABLES
Methodology
Analysis of Data
Responses by Group and Sex/Marital Status
Responses by Group and Age
Responses by Group and Employment
Responses by Group and Education
Responses by Group and Number of Adult Learning Experiences
Responses by Group and Enrollment Reason
Responses by Group and Cost of the Learning Experience 11
Responses by Group and Length of the Learning Experience 13
Responses by Group and Recognition Received for Successful 13 Completion of the Learning Experience
Responses by Group and Perceived Overall Satisfaction of 13 the Learning Experience
Responses by Group for Perceived Strength of the Learning 16 Experience
Responses by Group for Opportunity to Participate in the 19
Responses by Group for the Relevance of Benefits
Responses by Group for the Degree of Personal Benefit 21 Received From the Learning Experience
Analysis of Significant Correlations
Analysis of Significant Differences by Group on Perceived' 27 Benefits in Noncredit Adult Education
Perceived Value of Noncredit Adult Education and . v



201

. •	Perceived Strengths and Weaknesses of Selected Factors	32
	Perceived Satisfaction and Selected Factors Having Significant.  Differences for Kansas Adult Learners	36
	Extent of Participation in the Learning Experience and Significant Differences on Selected Factors	37
•	Significant Differences on Overall Noneconomic and	41
Summa	ary and Recommendations	42
	Adult Basic Education Group	43
	Recommendations for Providers of Adult Basic Education	•
	Business Manager Group	. 44
	Recommendations for Providers of Business Manager \ Training	
	Vocational-Technical Group	47
	Recommendations for Providers of Vocational-Technical Education	
	Community College Group	48
•	Recommendations for Providers of Community College Education	•
	Registered Nurses Group	49
	Recommendations for Providers of Educational Programs for Nurses	•
	Cooperative Extension Service Pride Group	51
ø	Recommendations for Providers of Cooperative Extension Service Pride Programs	
•	Cooperative Extension Service Non Pride Group	53
; . ,\$	Recommendations for Cooperative Extension Service . Non Pride Programs	
Disc	ussion(	53
Apper	ndix A	56
Refer	rences	
-	•	

### LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1	Responses by Group and Sex/Marital Status
2	Responses by Group and Age
3	Responses by Group and Employment
4	Responses by Group and Education
5	Responses by Group and Number of Adult Learning
6	Responses by Group and Enrollment Reason
7	Responses by Group and Cusc of the Learning Experience 12
8.	Responses by Group and Length of the Learning Experience 14
9	Responses by Group and Recognition Received for Success : 15 ful Completion of the Learning Experience
10	Responses by Group for Perceived Overall Satisfaction 17 of the Learning Experience
11	Responses by Group for Perceived Strength of the Learning 18 Experience
12	Responses by Group for Opportunity to Participate in the 20° Learning Experience
13	Responses by Group for the Relevance of Benefits
14	Responses by Group for the Degree of Personal Benefit 24 Received from the Learning Experience
15	Correlation Matrix for Benefits, Satisfaction, Strengths,

The study of participation and benefits of noncredit adult education in Kansas was a result of involvement as a pilot state in a Lifelong Learning. Project funded by the W. K. Kellogg Foundation and administered by the Education Commission of the States. The project explored appropriate roles for the State of Kansas in delivering educational services for adults through lifelong learning and noncredit educational programs.

There have been several research efforts dealing with the Kansas adult learner population which provided a variety of demographic information and characteristics of adult learners. A survey of Kansas adults revealed that as many as one half the adult population (Hov. 1975) were involved in a variety of adult education events. The 1977 kegents' study (Board of Regents, State of Kansas, 1977) determined that 450,000 Kansas adults believed they would "likely" or "for sure" be involved in adult education in the near future. More recent research suggests that some 690,000 adult. Kansans are interested in continuing their learning; however, the data revealed that only some 375,000 were actually engaged in learning Programs (Continuing Education, 1980).

Information from the National Center for Educational Statistics (1982) confirmed the rapid growth of adult education in the United States today.

Noncredit adult learning is only one aspect of the total adult education scene; however, according to Cross (1981) one third of all adults enroll in noncredit learning experiences while only 6 percent enroll in credit learning experiences.

### Methodology

experiences from seven provider groups including adult basic education, business managers, rocational-technical schools, community colleges, nurses, and Cooperative Extension Pride and Non Pride. A random sample of participants was selected from each of the seven provider groups and a survey questionnaire (see Appendix A) was administered. The instrument was designed to determine demographic data and characteristics of the adult learning experience. The main section of the questionnaire was designed to determine the benefits derived from participation in noncredit adult education by responding to a 19 item benefit scale. The scale was derived from Peterson's typology of benefits (1979) that accrue to the individual and to society.

### Analysis of the Data

This section of the report contains frequency counts and percentages for—
the demographic data, followed by analysis of the independent variables.

Measures of significant differences and tests of association for selected factors are then presented.

### Responses by Group and Sex/Marital Status

Table 1 reveals that 46.1 percent of the total participants were married females and 23.8 percent were married males. Single females constituted 18.2 percent of the total population and single males represented 11.9 percent.

variations from this total population in regard to sex/marital status were found in the adult basic education group where 40.4 percent were single males, in the business group where 76.7 percent were married males, and in the nurse's group where 81.4 percent were married females.

Table 1

Responses by Group and Sex/Marital Status

·			Adu.	l t		الانتفارينية فيادُ الدخوال	•				17 411 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11	10.00 Marie 18 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40	Coc	perati Serv		ension		· Same and same of the same of
•		•	Bas Edu	ic cation'	Bus	iness		ional- nical		mmunity ollege	Nur	·ses	Pri	lde	Non	Pride	Ťota	1
•	•		. N	<b>3</b>	н,	% ·	N	*	,	<b>3</b>	Ŋ	<b>%</b>	N '	<b>`%</b>	N	%.	N	<b>%</b>
Sex/Marital	Stati	15,				~~					<del></del>						•	
Single		ŕ			•				•	•	•	· <b>'</b>	•		•	)		
, Male		,	55	40.4	·37	17.6 <sub>p</sub>	30	22.2	19	9.2,	5	1.1	. 8,	6.3	. 5	7.0	159	11.9
Femal	e 、		42	30.9	. 5	2.4	30 •	22.2	45	21.9	. 73	16.4		20.3	22	31.0	243	18.2
Married						•	•	•	,					•	¥			
Male			14	10.3	161	76.7	46	34.1	. 40	19.4	5	1.1	37	28.9	13	18.3	_318	23,8
Femal	e		25	18.4	7	3.3	29	21.5	102	·49.5,	363	81'.4	57	44,5	31	43.7	614	46.1
٠	·	•	<u> </u>					<u>.</u>								, 	,	
Total	-	•	136		210		135		206		446		128		71	· •	1332	100

### Responses by Group and Age

The total population, as seen in Table 2, reveals that the 25-34 age group represented the highest proportion with 28.3 percent, while those person; 65 years of age and older represented the lowest proportion with 4.6 percen.

The Cooperative Extension Pride and Non Pride groups had a higher representation of persons 65 years of age and older than did the total population for the study, with 16.9 and 14.0 percent respectively. Business manager participants reported the lowest percent with .5 of the participants being 65 years of age and older.

### Responses by Group and Employment

Over half of the total respondents, 56.7 percent, were employed full time while 18.4 percent were employed part time (Table 3). Those employed on an irregular basis represented 6 3 percent and those not employed represented 18.6 percent of the 1334 sample returns.

The adult basic education participants showed he highest rate of unemployment, 47.1 percent, and the lowest rate of persons employed full time, 35.3 percent. The business group recorded the highe t, 97.1 percent, full time employment for the seven provider groups. Vocational-te inical respondents reported full time employment at 51.9 percent and 19.3 percent were not employed. The community college respondents were employed full time in 57.3 percent of the cases while 19.4 percent were not employed. Over 30 percent of the nurses were employed part time and 43 percent indicated full time employment. Cooperative Extension Service Pride and Non Pride groups reported full time employment at 57.7 and 69 percent respectively.



13

Table 2
Responses by Group and Age

. ,	Adi	ılt						•	*	<u> </u>	Coo	operat1 Serv	ve Exte ice	ension		
	Ba: Edi	sic ucation	, <del>B</del> us:	iness		ational- chņical		munity llege	Nui	52 <b>5</b>	Pr.	i de	Non	F. ide	Jota	al
Age	N	*	N	*	N	. %	N	*	<b>N</b>	*	N	*	· Ñ,	*	N	*
Under 25 yrs.	, 65	48.1	42	20.1	66	48.9	42	20.4	7	1.6	7	5.4	•6	8.5	235	17.6
25-34	43	31.9	79	37.8	27	20.0	44	21.4	142	31.9	22	16.9	20.	28.2	377	28.3
35-49	15	11.1	55	26.3	18	£ 13.3	61	29.6	154	34.5	45	34.6	22	31.0	; 370	27.8
50-64	10	7.4	32	15.3	23	17.0	52	25.2	125	28.0	34.	26.2	13	18.3	289	21.7
65 & older	2	1.5	1	0.5	1	0.8	7	3.4	18	4.0	22	16.9	10	14.0	61	4.6
		,					_	٠			<del></del>		· · · · · · -			
Total	135		209		135		206		446	•	130		71		1332	100

15

Table 3°
Responses by Group and Employment

	Adul	t		ŧ			·			•	Coc	•	ve Exter ice .	nsion'		
	Basi Educ	c ation	Busi	ness		ional- nical		lege	Nur	ses	Pri	lde ,	Non f	ride	Tota	ai .
Employment	N	*	Ň	<b>%</b>	3 N	*	N	*	N	%	· N	%	N	*	Ν.	%
Employed Full time	48	35.3	204	9741	70	51.9	118	· 57.3	192	43.0		57.7	, <b>49</b> .	69.0	756	56.7
Employed Part time	17 2	12.2	2	1.0	28	20.7	, 34	16.5	138	31.0	18	13.8	. 9	12.7	246	18.4
Employed on an irregular basis	~ <b>7</b> \	5.1	3	1.4	11	8.1	14	6.8 -	40	9.0	8	6.2	1	1.4	84	6.3
Not Employed	64	47.1	1	0.5	26	19.3	40	19.4	76	17.0	29	22.3	· 12 <sub>ζ</sub>	16.9*	248	18.6
Total	136	•	210	<u> </u>	135		206		446	•	130		71		1334	100
								• ,	. ^	•				÷	•	

### Responses by Group and Education

Respondents to the survey of noncredit adult learning in Kansas, Table 4, revealed data indicating that 3.4 percent had an eighth grade or lower educational level, 8.9 percent had completed grades 9-11, and 15.1 percent had completed post graduate studies. The remaining participants had a minimum of a high school education.

The highest educational levels were found in the community colleges, nurses, and Cooperative Extension Service Pride groups. Each of these groups had approximately 20 percent of the respondents indicating the completion of post graduate educational experiences. Vocational-technical data indicated that 26.7 percent of the participants had completed 1-3 years of college and nurses had 57.6 percent in this educational category.

## Responses by Group and Number of Adult Learning Experiences Completed in the Last Iwo years

Of the total population, those reporting that this was their first noncredit adult learning experience and those reporting that this was their second or third learning experience represented approximately 30 percent each (see Table 5). Those completing four or five adult learning experiences represented 16.6 percent of the total population while those reporting 6 or more adult learning experiences represented 21.4 percent.

The groups having the most adult noncredit learning experiences, 6 or more, were the nurses with 46.3 percent. This was the first noncredit adult learning experience for 51.5 percent of the community college group and 71.3 percent of the adult basic education group.

### Responses by Group and Enrollment Reason

Of the 1,355 responses (Table 6), 89.7 percent indicated that they voluntarily enrolled in the noncredit adult learning experience. Only 10.3 percent indicated that their participation was required.

Table 4
Responses by Group, and Education <

	Adu	lt	•		)	>	<i>.</i>			nd all charles	Co	operati Serv		ension	•	
	Bas Edu	ic cation	Bus	iness -		ional'- Inical		munity llege	Nu	rses :	Pr	ide	мой	Pride	Tota	ì
Education	N,	`*	N	*	N	• %	N	*	, <b>N</b>	* .	Ň _	***	N	*	N	*
Grade 8 or less	25	18.5	5	. 2.4	3	2.2	2	1.0	0	0.0	4	3.0	6	8.5	45,	. 3.4
- Grade 9-11	85	63.0	10	4.8	6	4.5	7	3.4	1	: 0.2	6	4.6	.3	4.2	1 18	8.9
Grade 12 (H.S. Graduate)	17	12.5	78	37.5	65	48.1	58	28.2	4	0.9	47	36.2	· 25	35.2	294	22 <b>.1</b>
1-3 Years of College	4	. 3.0	50	24.0	36	26.7	74	35.9	257	57.6	21	16.2	14	19.7	456	34.2
Bachelor's degree, College	, 2	1.5	49	23.6	13	9.6	25	12.1	91	20.4	26	20.0	. 11	, 15.5	•2 <b>17</b>	16.3
Post Graduate Study	. 2	1.5	16,	7.7	12	8.9 :	40	19.4	93	20.9	26	20.0	12	16.9	201	15.1
_				4)										,	· 	
Total	135		₹208		135		206	•	446		130	•	71		1331	100

Table 5
Responses by Group and Number of Adult Learning Experiences
Completed in Last Two Years

	•	Adul				•	<del></del>	• •		١.,		Coc	operati Serv		ension		
	•	Bas! Educ	lc cation	Busi	ness		ional- nìcal	Conn.	unity lege	Nur	·ses	Pri	l de	Non	Pride	Tota	1
Adult Learning Experiences		N	<b>%</b>	N	<b>S</b> .	. N 	<b>'</b> , <b>%</b>	, <b>N</b>	, <b>s</b>	N	ષ્ 💲	N	<b>%</b> .	, <b>N</b> .	<b>%</b>	N	<b>%</b>
1 (This was the first)	•	87	71.3	<b>→</b> 45	22.2	83	62.0	105	51.5	30.	,6.8	31	24.0	25	35.2	406	31.1
2 or 3	.•	27	22.1	116	57.1	41	30.6	, ` 65	31.9	. 80	18.0	. 31	39.5	23	32.4	403	30-9
4 or 5		5	4.1	30	14.8	3	2.2	16 '	7.8	,128	28.9	25	119.4	11	15.5	2 18	16.6
6 or more	·.	3	2.5	12	5.9	<b>7</b> ;	.5.2	,18	8.8	205	46.3	, 22	17.1	12	16.9	279	21.4
otal		122		, 203		134	~	2041	•	443		129		71	,	1306	100

Table 6
Responses by Groups and Enrollment Reason

, ,	Adu Bas	•		<del> </del>	Vocat	ijonal -	Con	munity		:	Coo	perati Serv	ve Exte	ension	P. P	######################################	<b>.</b> .
•	Edu	cation	· Buş	lness	Tech	nical	, Co	llege	Nu	rses	Pri	de	Non	Pride	Ţo	11	
Enrollment Reason	N .	*	N	,\$	N	*	N	. *	N	<b>%</b> .	. N	* (	N	*	N	*	•
Required	11	8.0	40	19.0	20	14.8	18	8.7	32	7.2	6	4.6	11.	15.5	138	10.3	_
Voluntary	126	92.0	170	81.0	115	85.2	188	91.3	414 	92 .8	•124 \	95.4	-60 	-84.5	1 197 ·	89.7	
Totals	137	•	ន 210		135	,	206	,	446	,	130		71	<del>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </del>	1335	100	 
Voluntary Participati	on Reas	<b>5</b> 0n				•		••,			•	,			` '		<del>.</del> .
Improve promotion chances	(33)	12.6	(87)	19.6	(15)	7.1	(10)	3.6	(16)	2.7	( 14)	7.2	(8)	7.0	(183)	6.7	
Overcome an educa- tional weakness	(64)	24.3	(57)	12.8	( 14)	6.6	(20)	7.2	(90)	15.0	(15)	7:7	(7)	6.2	(267)	12.7	•
Learn more and ex- expand my mind	(59)	22.4	(141)	31,7	(75)	35.3	(111)	40.3	(+17)	69.5	(73)	37.7	(42)	36.8	(918)	43.7	
Pevelop a special's Skill	(42)	16.0	(66)	14.8	(72)	34	(109)	39.5	(53)	8.8	(29)	14.9	(23)	20.2	(394)	· 18.7	•
improve my financial status	.· (42)	16.0	(46)	10.3	.(29),	13.7	(11)	4.0	(14)	2.3	(16)	8.3	(11)	9.6	( 169)	8.0	
Increase my social contacts	(23)	8.7	(48)	10.8	(7)	3.3	(15)	5.4	(10)	1.7	(47) 2	24.2	(23)	20.2	( 173)	8.2	24

<sup>\*</sup>Note: Each respondent was allowed to check any or all of the voluntary enrollment reasons; therefore, the total number of voluntary responses represented in the parenthesis may total more than the number listed after the voluntary row.

Over 40 percent of the participants enrolling voluntarily indicated the reason for their voluntary enrollment was to "learn more." The voluntary category of "developing a special skill" represented 18.7 percent of the total and the category of "overcoming an educational weakness" represents 12.7 percent. The remaining participants reported other voluntary reasons of "increasing their social contact," "improving their chances for promotion," and "improving their financial status" at less that 10 percent each.

Business group respondents reported their voluntary participation for "learning more" at 31.7 percent and the nurses reported this category at 69.5 percent.

### Responses by Group and Cost of the Learning Experience

Participants were surveyed as to the approximate percent they contributed toward the cost of their noncredit adult learning experience as reported in Table 7. Those respondents indicating their contributions toward the cost of the learning experience at 100 percent represented 35.6 percent of the total responses; no contribution, 33.1 percent; 1-24 percent of the cost at 11.3 percent; 25-49 percent of the cost at 5 percent; 50-74 percent of the cost at 8.3 percent; and 75-99 percent of the cost at 6.7 percent. Basically, it was an all or none situation for participants contribution to the cost of the learning experience.

Deviations from the all or none situation were found in the adult basic education group and the business group. Adult basic education audiences reported no cost in 58.5 percent of the cases and only 7.3 percent indicated a contribution of 100 percent of the cost. Kansas business managers provided very little of their learning experience costs; 67.5 percent indicated hone, while only 1.5 percent indicated the 100 percent contribution category.

Table 7
Responses by Group and Cost of the Learning Experiences

	Adu			`	o				,	``	<b>C</b> o	•	lve Ext	ension	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. }
	. Bas Edu	ic cation	Busi	ness		tional- hnical		munity liege	Nur	ses .	Pr	1de	Non	Pride	Tota	1
Percent of Cost	N	<b>%</b>	N	*	, N	*	H	*	N	*	N	*	N ·	*	* N	*
None	, 72	58.5	139	67.5	20	15.9	45	23.1	84	18.9	44	34.1	25	35.2	429	33.1
1 - 24%	- 12	9.8	29	14.1	. 24	19.0	11	5.6	33	7.4	24	18.6	13	18.3	146	11.3
25 - 49%	7	5.7	9	4.3	8	6.3	. 7	`3.6	24	5.4	4	<b>,3.1</b>	6	8.5	65	5.0
50 - 74%	12	9.8	18	8.7	13	10.3	13	6.7	29	6.5	14	10.9	. 8 *	11.3	107	8.3
75 <b>- 99%</b>	11	8.9	8	3.9	27	<b>21.5</b>	14	7.2	15	3.4	9	7.0	3	4.2	87	6.7
100%	9	7.3	. 3	1.5	,34	27.0	105	53.8	260	58.4	34	26.3	16	22.5	461	35.6
				<del> {</del>		· <del></del>		<del></del>	*	1	·	, /	<u>,                                     </u>			
Total	123		206	·	126		195		. 445		127	<b>≠</b> ,	71		1295	100

27

.nn: 26

ERIC Full Task Provided by ERIC

### Responses by Group and Length of the Learning Experience

Overall responses to the length of the learning experience, as reported in Table 8, resulted in 29.5 percent for the 1-9 hour category. The 10-19 hour category was represented by 15.2 percent; the 20-29 hour category was represented by 19.7 percent; the 30-39 hour category was represented by 15.5 percent; the 40-49 hour category was represented by 5.3 percent; and the 50 or more hour category was represented by 14.8 percent.

The shortest learning experiences were reported by the community college group with 53 percent of their responses being in the 1-9 hour category, while the vocational-technical group reported the longest length with 53.6 percent in the 50 or more hour category.

### Responses by Group and Recognition Received for Successful Completion or the Learning Experience

Some type of recognition received for successful completion of noncredit adult learning is the standard practice as reported by learning participants in the sample population. According to data revealed in Table 9, 39 percent of the participants received continuing education unit credits, 31.8 received a certificate; 4.1 percent indicated an increased salary; and 1.1 percent revealed a promotionally related aspect. Those indicating "no special recognition" represented 24 percent of the sample population.

Exceptions to the trend of the overall population were found in the Cooperative Extension groups where approximately 60 percent indicated "no special recognition" and in the nurse's group where 95.5 percent received continuing education unit credits.

### Responses by Group and Perceived Overall Satisfaction of the Learning Experience

In section 111, part A, of the questionnaire (see Appendix A) the respondents were to rate the level of satisfaction received from their



Table 8
Responses by Group and Length of the Learning Experience

•	3	Adu	lt						,			<u>Co</u>	operativ Servi		nsion		,
	• •	Bas *, Edu	ication	ې <b>B</b> us	iness		ional- nical	5. n	unity lege	Nur	ses	Pr	i de	Non	Pride	Tota	al ~
Hours	•	N	*	H	*	<b>N</b> .	*	N	*	. N	*	N	<b>. %</b>	N	*	<b>N</b>	(C. N.
1-9	\$	14	11.9	20 `	9.8	. 17	13.6	106	55.0	139	31.2	52	40.6	34	47.9	382	29.5
10-19	•	14	11.9	30	14.6	3 .	2.4	54	27.0	66	14.8	17	13.3	12	16.9	196	15.2
20-29		.8	6.8	69	33.6	9	7.2	24	12.0	121	27.1	17	13.3	7	9.9	255	19.7
30-39		28	23.7	45	22.0	24	19.2	10	5.0	78	17.5	. 11	8.6	5	7.0	201	15.5
40-49	į	11	9.3	20	9.8	-5	4.0	5	2.5	17	3.8	8	6.2	2	2.8	68	5.3
50 or more	,	-43	36.4	21	10,2	67	53.6	1	0.5	`25	5.6	23	18.0	11	15.5	191	14.8
						<del></del>						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
Total		1 18	•	205	•	ر دغا		200		446		128		71		129	3 100

Table 9
Responses by Group and Recognition Received for Successful Completion of the Learning Experience

	·.		Adul	t	<u></u> -	······································	<del></del> -				<del></del>	, ,	Co	operati Serv		ension		
<del>-</del> .			Basi Educ	ic Pation	Bus	siness	. Vocati Techn			unity lege	t Nut	:ses	, Pr	ide	`Non	Ppi de	Tot	ai `
~ Recognition	1		N	<b>%</b> .	N	*	N	*	N	*	_ N	*.	H	*	N	*	N .	<b>*</b>
No special recognition	•		30 ′	28.8	15	7.9	31	25.0	94	48.2	.17	3.8	70	66.0	38	61.3°	295	24
cEU Credit		,	2	1.9	1.	0.5	0	0.0	35	18	426	95.5	9	8.5	6	9.7	479	39
Increased Sa aspect	lary	·	11	10.6	6	3.1	18	14.5	2	1.0	0	0.0	-6	5.7	7	11.3	<b>50</b>	4.1
A Certificat	ie.	٠.	60	57.7	166	86.9	74.	59.7	62	31.8	3	0.7	15	14.1	10	16.1	390	31.8
Promotional relate aspe		41 قد	1	1.0	3	1.6	1	0.8	Ž	1.0	0	0.0	'6	5.7	1	1.6	14	1.1
Total'	-	1(	)4		191	•	124		195		446		106		62		1228	100

noncredit adult learning experience. According to Table 10, Kansas partici-, pants appear to be satisfied with their noncredit learning experiences. Fifty percent of the total population indicated that they were "quite" satisfied, 29.6 percent were "moderately" satisfied, 13.1 percent were "very" satisfied, 5.4 percent were "slightly" satisfied, and only 1.9 percent were "not at all" satisfied with their noncredit adult learning experience.

Mean scores for the degree of satisfaction were calculated by assigning a 1 for "not at all" satisfied, a 2 for "slightly" satisfied, a 3 for "moderately" satisfied, a 4 to "quite" satisfied, and a 5 to "very" satisfied. Table 10 revealed an overall satisfaction mean score of 3.67, out of a possible 5 point high scale. The mean satisfaction scores for the seven provider groups ranged from a high of 3.99 for the business group to a low of 3.41 for the Kansas nurses.

### Responses by Group for Perceived Strength of the Learning Experience

Participants indicated the perceived strength of their moncredit adult learning experience by responding to the seven strength features in section 111, part B, of the questionnaine (see Appendix A). Mean scores were calculated from responses on a four point scale by assigning a 1 to a "definite weakness," a 2 for "more a weakness than a strength," a 3 for "more a strength than weakness," and a 4 to "definite strength." These mean scores were then ranked for each of the seven provider groups and for the total population.

The results, as shown in Table 11, indicated an overall mean score of 3.56 out of a possible high score of 4. The "expertise of leaders and/or teachers" ranked first over the seven strength features with a mean of 3.58. The second ranked feature for the total population was the "ability of the leader and/or teacher to explain or demonstrate," which received a mean score of 3.54. The "learning materials supplied" (books, pamphlets, practice

,	Adult Basic Education					•						-	ive Extension			
			Bus	Lness `	Vocational- vTechnical		Community College		Nurses		Pride		Non Pride		Tota	11
Overall Satisfaction	n N	*	N	*	N	*	, N	*	, 'N.	*	N	*	N ,	<b>x</b>	N	<b>x</b>
Not at all	6.	5.0	0	0.0	2,	1.5	. 7	3.4	6	1.3	1	0.8	3	4.2	25	1.9
Slightly	6	5.0	3	1.5	. 12	8.9	9	4.4	35	7.9	1	0.8	4	5.6	70	5.4
Moderately.	<b>20</b>	16.8	27	13.1	38	28.4	55	26.8	187	41.9	. '39	30.2	22	31.0	388	.29.6
Quite Satisfied	44	37.0.	146	70.8	59	44.0	103	50.3	207	46.4	64	49.6	32	45.1	655	50.0
Very Satisfied .	43	36.2	30	14.6	23	. 17.2	31	15.1	11	2.5	24	18.6	10	141	<b>172</b>	13,.1
Total ,	119		206		134		205	,	446	,	129		. 71		1310	100
Mean Score	3.9	-	3.9	9	3.6	6	3.6		3.4	<b>41</b>	3.	85	3.59	)	3.	67

Table 11
Responses by Croup for Perceived Strength of the Learning Experiences

	Adult		4.7	**************************************	e.2 26 Wester \	,					Coop	erativ Servi	e Extens	ion	n		
•	Basic Educa		Busin	1655	Vocati Techn		Commun Colle	•	Nurse	:5	Prid	 le	, Non Pr	ide	Tota	l	
Strength	Mean	Rank	Mean	Rank	Hean	Rank	Mean	Rank,	Hean	Rank	Mean	Rank	Mean	- Rank	Hean	Rank	
Manual and an and TRATE World and								<i>'</i>						9'			
Knowledge or Profesional Expertise of Leaders or Teachers	3.39	4	3.70	<b>, 2</b>	3.47	1	3.66	1-2	3.62	1	3.43	1	3.42	2	3.58	1 .	
Ability of Leaders or Teachers to Explain or Demonstrate	· 3.52	2	3.72		3.45	<b>2</b> ,	3.66	1-2	3.48	2	3.42	2	3.48	1	3.54	ż	
Equipment	2.99	7	3.34	4	3.36	4	. 3.19	5	3.12	4	3.20	4	3.12	3	3.19	4 .	
Learning Materials Supplied	3.48	3	3.60	3	3.39	3	3,28	3	3.33	3	3.26	3	3.09	4	3.37	3 /	
Having Enough Time for Learning	`. 3 <b>.</b> 33	5	302	6	3.05	7	2.94	7	3.01	<b>5</b>	3.09	6	3.03	6	3.04	6	
Availability of Individual Help	3.53	1	3.22	5	3:09	6	3.25	4	2.68	6	3.18	5	3.07	5	3.07	5	
Homework Assignments	,3.19	6	2.93	7	3.12	5 .	2.98	6	2.40	7	2.86	7	2.84	7	2.89	7	
Strength Hean	3.55	100000	3.56	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	3.42		3.71	•	3.55		3.58		3.48		3.56		
		Mark.		* *						2						•	

30.

ERIC Full Text Provided by ERIC

materials) ranked third with a m\_an score of 3.37 and the "equipment" ranked fourth at 3.19. The fifth ranked strength feature was for "availability of individual help" at 3.07, followed by "having enough time to learn" with a mean score of 3.04, and the seventh ranked strength feature was for "home-work, assignments" with a rank of 2.86.

All of the seven participant groups were similar to the total population in their ranking of the seven strength features except for the adult basic education participants who ranked their number one strength feature as "the availability of individual help" with a mean score of 3.53.

Responses by Group for Opportunity to Participate in the Learning Experience

In section 111, part C of the questionnaire (see Appendix A), the respondents were to rate their opportunity to participate in setting the goals and objectives, in sharing their own experiences, and in evaluating their noncredit adult learning experience. Mean scores were computed for their perceived opportunity to participate by assigning a 1 to "not at all," a 2 for "a small degree," a 3 for "a moderate degree," and a 4 to "a large degree."

According to data reported in Table 12 the overall highest ranked variable was the opportunity to "share their own experiences," with a mean score of 2.91. The second highest ranked opportunity to participate was for "contributing to the process by which the learning experience was evaluated," with a mean score of 2.85. The lowest ranked opportunity to participate was for "developing goals and ideas for the learning experience," with a mean score of 2.73.

### Responses by Group for the Relevance of Benefits

Nineteen possible benefits were presented in section 11 of the questionnaire (see Appendix A). Respondents were on check the "yes" column if the benefit was to have been provided by their particular adult learning



Responses by Group for Opportunity to Participate in the Learning Experiences

V	Adult		•	••			,				=	rative Servic	Exter	sion .		
*	Basic Educa		Busin	ess	Vocation!		Conmu Col 1	, -	Nurse	<b>5</b>	Pride		Non F	ride	Total	
Opportunity to Participate	Hean	Rank	Hean ,	Rank	Hean	Rank	Mean	Ŕank	Hean	Rank	Mean	Rank	Mean	Rank	Mean	Rank
Developing goals and ideas for the learning experience	3.15	1	3.03	3	3.04	1	2.78	3	2.30	, 3	3.01	2	2.66	3	2.73	<b>*3</b>
Share their own experiences so others could learn from these	2 70	3	3 <b>.39</b>	1 .	2.98	2	<b>2.98</b>	1 1	2.62	2	3.13	1	2 <b>.79</b>	1 💠	2.91	1
Contribute to the process by which the learning experience was evaluated	2.88	2	<b>3.20</b>	<b>,</b>	2.71	3 '	06.5	2	2.77	1	2 <b>.</b> 77	3	2.77	2	2.85	2
Opportunity Mean'	2.92	2	3.21		2.91	· .	2.85		2.57		·2 <b>.</b> 97		2.75		2.83	

experience. The survey population had the opportunity of indicating multiple, benefits from the nineteen possible benefits, as outlined in Table 13.

The first 13 possible benefits were associated with noneconomic benefits (NEB) and numbers 14 to 19 were associated with economic benefits (EB). The five benefits receiving the most frequent yes (relevance) responses were:

Ben	efit	Type 🐺	Response
1.	Becoming better informed about some	NEB	1220
	subject or area of knowledge.	•	
2.	Improving my interest and/or skill	NEB	1047
**************************************	in learning.		
3.	Gaining satisfaction from being	NEB	900
	involved in self-improvement.	•	
4.	Learning about recent job knowledge	EB	853
	affecting my work.		
5.	Gaining qualifications which enable	EB	745
ner :	me to assume a wider variety of		•
** ******* *	responsibilities.	o same to same	
	affecting my work.  Gaining qualifications which enable me to assume a wider variety of	EB	745

Three of the above most frequently mentioned benefit areas were for noneconomic benefits and two of the five most relevant benefit areas were for economic benefits.

Responses by Group for the Degree of Personal Benefit Received from the Learning Experience

As indicated in the previous section, respondents checked the "yes" column in section 11 of the questionnaire (see Appendix A) for those benefits expected by their particular noncredit adult learning experience. The respondents were then to indicate the degree of actual benefit received.

Mean scores were calculated for these actual benefits by assigning a 1 to "little or no" benefit, a 2 for "some" benefit, a 3 to a "definite"



	•	Adult Basic					Cooperat		
		Education	Business	Vocational - Techniqui	College College	to Nurses	Pride	Kon Pride	Total
* Po:	esible Benefits	N .	N	H .	N	. N	. H.	ĸ	•
Nor	n-economic Benefits .			*			-	,	
1.	. Improve Skill/Reading Writing, Speaking	111	57	. 46	16	63	39	27 •	359
2.	Learning to be an Effective Consumer	74	67	39	59	62	<b>39</b>	26	366
3.	. Learning to be an Effective Parent	45	18	11	27	. 86	29	20	236
. 4.	- Learning Effective Politics/Government	52	26	18	8	4	67	19	254
5.	Better informed about some Subject .	109	202	125	167	. 443	115	59	1,220
6.	Skill in Learning	104 :.	176 ,	114	153	363	64	53	1,047
7.	Developing Self- Reliance/Independence	107	<b>*131</b>	80	is at	20 <del>9</del>	59	36	695
<b>.</b>	Developing Positive ~ feelings/worth	103	119	73	·81	226	40	40	710
9.	Developing Tolerance/ Mespectful of Others	81	.116	70 .	49	205	65	37	<b>&amp;</b>
do.	Developing Principles/ Beliefs	7 <u>.</u> 8	65	4.9	42	117	49	22	422
	Developing Skill in Hobbies	62	26	70.	117	42	51	35	403
12.	Increase Appreciation of Art/Culture	46	10	13 0	•	43	<b>39</b>	22 '	217 .
13.	Gain from Self- Improvement	·	149		123	-293	88	49	900
Evo	nomic Benefits	7	,		•				
14.	Qualify for Entry Position	76	97	1	27	49	16	21	359
15 <b>.</b>	Prepare to Handle Increased Job Responsi- bilities/Job	87	183	79	58	224	49	29	709
, 16.	Increase Job Earnings/ Qualifications	83	7 ,145	74	42	119	<b>34</b> . , ,	21 .	516
47.	Learning Recent Job Knowledge	60	162	77	63	391	<b>51</b> .	29	853
18.	Qualifying for New Job	93	97	73	42	65	25 ,	22	417
. 19.	Cain new Qualifications	65	170	85	70	240	62	33	745

MICROFILMED FROM BEST AVAILABLE COPY

benefit, and a 4 to a "great" benefit. The mean scores were then ranked for each of the seven provider groups and for the total population.

According to Peterson's typology (1979), the first thirteen possible benefits were considered to be noneconomic benefits and numbers 14 through 19 were considered to be economic benefits. Data reported in Table 14 indicates that all seven provider group participants received both noneconomic and economic benefits from their noncredit adult learning experiences. The total population mean benefit score was 2.77 for the combined nineteen benefits, 2.77 for the noneconomic benefits, and 2.77 for the economic benefits. The highest ranked benefit for the total population was "becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge" with a mean score of 3.0, the second highest ranked benefit was "learning about recent knowledge affecting my work" with a mean score for 2.92, the third highest ranked benefit was "gaining satisfaction from being involved in self-improvement" with a mean score of 2.91, the fourth highest ranked benefit was "preparing to handle increased job responsibilities which will make my job more important" with a mean score of 2.90, and the fifth highest ranked benefit was "improving myinterest and/or skill in learning more" with a mean score of 2.86.

### Analysis of Significant Correlations

In addition to the analysis of the demographic data, tests of correlations were completed by applying the Pearson r test for significant relationships (Downie and Heath, 1974). The data resulting in significant levels of correlation included (1) noneconomic benefits, (2) economic benefits, (3) overall benefit value, (4) satisfaction with the learning experience, (5) strength of the learning experience, (7) recognition received for successful completion of the learning experiences, (8) contribution to the cost of the learning experience, and (9) length of the learning experience as outlined in Table 15.

23

		Adul Basi				·Vocat	lenal -	Com	unity				erative Extension Service				
Pessible Benefits		Education Mean Rank		Business Hean Rank		Tochn		Col 1	•	Hurses Hean Rank		Pride Mean	Rank	Non Price Lank Mean Rank		Total Hean	Rank
	oconemic Benefits				·						***						
1.	Improve   Skill   / Reading, Writing, Speaking	3.01	7	2.43	17.	2.53	15	2.76	13-14	2.21	19	2.89	ij	2.81	12-13	2.67	17-18
2.	Learning to be an Effective Consumer	2.55	. 19	2.59	15	2.48	17	2.64	8-5	2.37	18	2.65	19	2.63	10	2.58	19
3.	Learning to be an Effective Parent	2.68	12-13	2.83	10-11	2.50	16	2.57	16	. 2.35	14-15	2.68	154	2.74	16	2.68	15-16
٠.	Learning Effective Politics/Government		16-17	2.42	16	2.31	19	3.00	1	2.55	14-15	2.84	11	2.71	17	2.68	15-16
5.	Better Informed about some subject	-2 <b>.96</b>	9-80	3.22	1	3.06	1	2.94	. 3	2.91	1	3.02	1	2.91	6	3.00	1
6.	Improve Interest/ Skill in Learning	3.12	<b>S</b> 2.	2.99	5	2.90	5-6	2.82	10	2.73	•	2.95	. 2	2.79	14	2.86	<b>5</b>
7.	Developing Self- Reliance/Independen	3,06 ce `	•	2.83	10-11	2.91	<b>4</b> a	2.64	8-9	2.65	10	2.76	12	2.97	3	2.82	7-8-9
8.	Developing Pasitive feelings/worth	3.18	1 '	2.90	7-8	2.81	•	2.70	17	2.68	7-8	2.85	10	2.85	8-9	2.63	6
	Developing . Tologance/Respectfu of Others		14-15	2.86	9	2.54	16	2.72	15	2.52	16-17	2.86	,	2.84	10	2.70	14
	Developing Principles/Bellefs	3.07	72	2.80	13	2.65	13	2.87	Ğ	2.56	12-13	2.92	4-5	2.81	12-13	2.78	11-12
	Developing Skill in Hobbles	2.68	16	2.50	16	2.75	12	2.92	•	2.70	5	2.68	15,+	2.83	11	2.77	12
	Increase Approcla- tion of Art/Culture	2.78	<b>16-17</b>	1.78		2.36	18	2.86	<b>,</b>	• •	21	2.68	15+	2.87	7	2.67	17-16
	Gein from Seif- Improvapent		,		6		7		5	2.84	3	2.92	4-5	2.92	5	2.91	3
One	mic Benefits		• •	•				•									/
	Qualify for Entry- Position	2.98	<b>a</b> .	2.90	7-8	2.90	5-6	2.58	19	2.52	16-17	2.74	13	2.76	15	2.82	7-8-9
	Prepare to Handle Increased Job Responsibilities	3.08	•	3.00	3	2.97	2-3	2.98	2	2.68	7-9	2.94	3	2.61	19	2.90	4
	Increase Job Earnings/Quelificati	2.96 lons	9-10	2.78	14	2.97	2-3	2.76	13-14	2.56	12-13	2.68	15+	3.00	1-2	2.76	11-12
	Learning Recent - Job Knowledge	2.85	14-15	3.17	2	2.80	10	2.77	12	2.87	2	2.88	8	2.93,	•	2.92	2 ,
	Quelifying for Y	2 <b>.69</b> -	110	2.82	12	2.65	6	2.78	11	2.69	6 .	2.72	14	3.00	1-2	2.82	7-8-9
	Cain new Qualifi-	2.88	J2-13	3.01	•	2.77	11	2.71	16	2.66	9 11	2.90	6	2.85	8-9	2.81	10
nefi	it Hean	2.79		2.88		2.74	•	2.60		2.67		2.85		2.86	-	2.77	
7000	enomic Hean	2.82	•	2.57	•	2.72		2.80		2.67		2.84		2.87		2.77	
	sic Hean	2.86															

24 44

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

A brief analysis of the correlations reveal that noneconomic benefits and economic benefits correlate at .3777. The overall benefit value correlates with economic benefits and noneconomic benefits. In addition, the overall benefit value correlates with the satisfaction of the learning experience, strength of the learning experience, and opportunity to participate in the learning experiences.

Satisfaction with the learning experience correlates with both economic benefits and noneconomic benefits. The strength of the learning experience correlates with noneconomic benefits and with satisfaction of the learning experience.

- The opportunity to participate in their noncredit adult learning experiences correlated with both noneconomic and economic benefits as well as satisfaction of the learning experience and strength of the learning experiences.
- The type of recognition received from successfully completing the learning experiences correlated with economic benefits, satisfaction of the learning experiences, and opportunity to participate in the learning experience.

The percent respondents contributed toward the cost of the learning experience correlated positively with honeconomic benefits and with the overall benefit value. The percentage of cost areas showed negative correlations with economic benefits, satisfaction, opportunity to participate in the learning experience, and the recognition received for successful completion of the learning experience.

The length of the learning experience had a positive correlation with economic benefits, satisfaction, opportunity to participate, and recognition received. The length of the learning experience and the strength showed a negative correlation.

Table 15

### Correlation Metrix for Benefits, Satisfaction, Strengths, Opportunity to Participate, Recognition Received, Cost, and Hours of the Learning Experience

	Economic Benefit	Non- economic Benefit	Overall Benefit Value	Satis- faction	Strengths	Oppor- tunity to Participate	Recog- nition
Economic Benefit	•	.3777* (N=1335)	, <b>v</b>		•		
Non- economic Benefit			•	•		-	
Overall Bonefit Value	.4712* (N=1335)	.9457* (N=1335)		.3606* (N=1310)	.1549* (N=1257) <sup>:</sup>	.2055* (N=1254)	
Satisfaction -	, 1754* (N=1310)	.3593* (N=1310)	. 3	·	•		
Strengths	•	.1556* (N=1257)		.265 <u>.</u> 9* (N-1247)	•	, ` .	
Opportunity to. Participate	.1000* (N=1254)	.1962* (N=1254)		.3208* (N≈1243)	.1050 <del>*</del> (N=1216)		
Recognition	.2063* (N=1257)	·		.2307* (N-1245)		.1903* (№1198)	٠
Cost	0740** (H=1295)	.0 <del>79</del> 0** (N=1295)	.0832** (H=1295)	0670** (N=1279)	.*	0770** (N=1226)	1534* (N=1232)
Length	· .1291* (N=1293)	,		.1289* (N=1280)	0863** (H≃1232)	.1723* (N=1232)	.2786* (N=1238)

Note: \* < .001

### Analysis of Significant Differences by Group on Perceived Benefits in Non-credit Adult Education

Fifteen of the 19 possible benefits showed significant differences when tested with various demographic data and learning experience groups. . Speculation as to why some groups differed so widely relative to various benefits has not been tested. The differences do; however, strengthen awareness for educational development and point the way for further research efforts. Each of the benefits having significant differences with other variables is reported in the following data.

Benefit 1: Improving skill in reading, writing, or speaking.

- (a) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 6.17, d.f. = 5/340,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among three of the education groupings with group 4 (1-3 yrs. of college,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.40) scoring lower than group 2 (grade 9-11,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.96) and group 3 (grade 12,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.87).
- (b) There were significant differences (F = 6.44, d.f. = 4/295, p < .0001) among recognition groups with group 2 (CEU credit, X = 2.27) scoring lower than group 7 (promotional related aspect, X = 3.29), group 3 (increased salary aspect, X = 2.91), group 1 (no special recognition, X = 2.72), and group 4 (a certificate, X = 2.70).
- (c) There were significant differences (F = 9.87 d.f. = 6/342, p < .0000) among organizational groupings) with group 5 (nurses, X = 2.21) scoring lower than group 1 (adult basic education., X = 3.01) and group 6 (Cooperative Extension Service-Pride, X = 2.89); group 1 (adult basic education, X = 3.01) scored higher than group 3 (vocational-technical, X = 2.53), group 2 (business-managers, X = 2.43), and group 5 (nurses, X = 2.21).

Benefit 3: Learning how to be a more effective parent.

(a) There was a significant difference (F = 2.75, d.f. = 4/225, p < .0290) between two of the age groupings with group.5 (65 years or older, X = 3.50) scoring higher than group 4 (50-64 yrs., X = 2.53).

Benefit 5: Becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge.

- (a) There were significant differences (F = 3.77, d.f. = 4/1194, p < .0047) among three of the age groupings with group 1 (under 25 yrs., X = 3.14) scoring higher than group 3 (35-49 yrs., X = 2.94) and group 4 (50-64 yrs., X = 2.93).
- (b) There were significant differences  $(F = 7.17, d.f. = 4/1118, p \le .0000)$  among recognition groups with group 4 (a certificate, X = 3.12) scoring higher than group 2 (CEU credit, X = 2.94) and group 1 (no special recognition, X = 2.85).



(c) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 4.91, d.f. = 6/1196,  $\underline{p}$  < .0001) among organizational groupings with group 2 (business-managers,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.22) scoring higher than group 4 (community college,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.94) and group 5 (nurses, X = 2.91).

Benefit 6: Improving my interest and/or skill in learning more.

- (a) There were significant differences (F = 5.43, d.f. = 3/1023, p < .0011) among three of the <u>sex/marital groups</u> with group 1 (single males, X = 3.02) and group 3 (married males, X = 2.94) scoring higher than group 4 (married females, X = 2.78).
- (b) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 5,22, d.f. = 4/1019,  $\underline{p} \le .0004$ ) among four of the <u>age groupings</u> with group 1 (under 25 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.06) scoring higher than group 2 (25-34 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.83), group 3 (35-49 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.82), and group 4 (50-64 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.78).
- (c) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 3.99, d.f. = 3/1023, p < .0077) between two of the employment groups with group 1 (full time employed,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.93) scoring higher than group 2 (part time employed,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.75).
- (d) There was a significant difference (F = 5.45, d.f. = 4/954, p < .0002) between recognition groups with group 4 (a certificate, X = 2.96) oring higher than group 2 (CEU credit, X = 2.75).
  - (e) The three significant differences (F = 3.70, d.f. = 5/1001), p < .00 and groups for length of the learning experience with group 1 (1-) how X = 2.71) scoring lower than group 6 (50 or more hours, X = 2.96) and group 4 (30-39 hours, X = 2.95).
  - (f) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 5.65, d.f. = 6/1021,  $\underline{p}$  < .0000) among organizational groups with group 1 (adult basic education,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.12) and group 2 (business-managers,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.99) scoring higher than group 5 (nurses,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.73).

Benefit 7: Developing a sense of self-reliance or independence.

- (a) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 2.97, d.f. = 3/654,  $\underline{p} \le 1.0312$ ) between two of the groups on number of noncredit adult learning experiences completed in the first learning experience,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.91) scoring higher than group 3 (4 or 5 learning experiences,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.63).
- (b) There was a significant difference (F = 3.65, d.f. = 6/667,  $p \le 0.0014$ ) between organizational groups with group 1 (adult basic education, X = 3.06) scoring higher than group 5 (nurses, X = 2.65).
- Benefit 8: Developing positive feelings about myself and my worth as a person.
  - (a) There was a significant difference (F = 4.42, d.f. = 3/688,  $p \le .0043$ ) between two of the <u>sex/marital groups</u>, with group 1 (single males, X = 3.05) scoring higher than group 4 (married females, X = 2.74).

- (b) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 4.62, d.f. = 3/688,  $\underline{p} \le .0033$ ) among three of the employment groups with group 4 (not employed,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.02) scoring higher than group 2 (part time employment  $\underline{X}$  = 2.74), and group 3 (irregular employment,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.54).
- (c) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 5.12, d.f. = 6/686,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among organizational groupings with group 1 (adult basic education,  $\underline{X} = 3.18$ ) scoring higher than group 4 (community colleges,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.70) and group 5 (nurses,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.68).
- Benefit 9: Becoming more tolerant and respectful of others, even if they differ from me in their opinions or conduct.
  - (a) There was a significant difference (F = 3.96, d.f. = 3/604,  $p \le .0082$ ) between two of the sex/marital groups with group 4 (married females, X = 2.58) scoring lower than group 3 (married males, X = 2.82).
  - (b) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 4.58, d.f. = 6/604,  $\underline{p} \le$  .0001) between organizational groupings with group 2 (business-managers,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.86) scoring higher than group 5 (nurses,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.52).
- Benefit 10: Developing a personal set of principles and beliefs that determine what is right and wrong for me.
  - (a) There was a significant difference (F = 4.83, d.f. = 3/407,  $p \le .0026$ ) between two of the <u>sex/marital groups</u> with group 1 (single males, X = 3.04) scoring higher than group 4 (married females, X = 2.64).
  - (b) There was a significant difference (F = 3.91, d.f. = 6/404, p < .0008) between organizational groupings with group 1 (adult basic education, X = 3.07) scoring higher than group 5 (nurses, X = 2.56).
- Benefit 12: Increasing appreciation of artistic or cultural expressions (art, music, drama, dance, poetry, etc.).
  - (a) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 3.18, d.f. = 3/208,  $\underline{p} \le .0251$ ) between two of the <u>sex/marital groups</u>, with group 4 (married females,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.80) scoring higher than group 3 (married males,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.21).
  - (b) There was a significant difference (F 4.27, d.f. = 1/202, p < .0401) between enrollment reasons and those who voluntarily enrolled (X = 2.72) scored higher than those who were required to enroll (X = 2.24).
  - (c) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 3.68, d.f. = 4/179,  $\underline{p} \le .0066$ ) between recognition groups with group 1 (no special recognition,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.90) scoring higher than group 4 (a certificate,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.31).
- Benefit 13: Gaining satisfaction from being involved in self-improvement.
  - (a) There was a significant difference (F = 2.96, d.f. = 3/866, p < .0314) between two of the groups on number of noncredit adult Tearning experiences completed in the last two years with group 4 (6 or more

learning experiences, X = 3.03) scoring higher than group 3 (4 or 5 learning experiences, X = 2.78).

Benefit 14: Becoming qualified for an entry-level position.

- (a) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 3.70, d.f. = 4/339,  $\underline{p}$  < .0057) between two of the age groupings with group 5 (65 yrs. or elder,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.63) scoring higher than group 4 (50-64 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.66).
- (b) There were significant differences (F = 5.55, d.f. = 4/305,  $p \le .0003$ ) among recognition groups with group 3 (increased salary aspect, X = 3.09) and group 4 (a certificate, X = 2.89) scoring higher than group 2 (CEU credit, X = 2.47).
- (c) There was a significant difference (F = 3.90, d.f. = 5/324,  $p \le .0019$ ) between groups for length of the learning experience with group 6 (50 or more hours, X = 3.02) scoring higher than group 1 (1-9 hours, X = 2.47).

Benefit 15: Preparing to handle increased responsibilities which will make my job more important.

- (a) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}=7.90$ , d.f. = 3/693,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among three of the <u>sex/marital groups</u> with group 3 (married males,  $\underline{X}=3.06$ ) and group 1 (single males;  $\underline{X}=3.01$ ) scoring higher than group 4 (married females,  $\underline{X}=2.73$ ).
- (b) There was a significant difference (F = 5.61, d.f. = 3/693,  $p \le .0008$ ) between two of the employment groups with group 1 (full time employed, X = 2.98) scoring higher than group 2 (part time employed, X = 2.68).
- (c) There were significant differences (F = 8.94, d.f. = 4/636, p < .0000) among recognition groups with group 3 (increased salary aspect, X = 3.21) and group 4 (a certificate, X = 3.03) scoring higher than group 2 (CEU credit, X = 2.74) and group 1 (no special recognition, X = 2.73).
- (d) There was a significant difference (F = 3.65, d.f = 5/672, P < .0029) between groups for length of the learning experience with group 5 (40-49 hours, X = 3.20) scoring higher than group 1 (1-9 hours, X = 2.75).
- (e) There were significant differences (F = 6.55, d.f. = 6/690,  $p \le 0.000$ ) among organizational groups with group 1 (adult basic education X = 3.08) and group 2 (business-managers, X = 3.08) scoring higher than group 5 (nurses, X = 2.68).

Benefit 16: Increasing my job earnings by improving my qualifications.

(a) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 5.99, d.f. = 3/501,  $\underline{p}$  < .0005) among all four of the <u>sex/marital groups</u> with group 1 (single males,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.96), group 2 (single female,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.90), and group 3 (married males,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.85) scoring higher than group 4 (married females,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.56).

(b) There was a significant difference (F = 4.61, d.f. = 4/453,  $p < \cdot$  .0012) between recognition groups with group 5 (promotional related aspect, X = 3.45) scoring higher than group 2 (CEU credit, X = 2.61).

Benefit 17: Learning about recent knowledge affecting my work.

- (a) There was a significant difference (F = 4.11, d.f. = 3/840,  $P \le .0065$ ) between two of the sex/marital groups with group 3 (married males, X = 3.05) scoring higher than group 4 (married females, X = 2.86).
- (b) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 3.38, d.f. = 3/840,  $\underline{p} \le .0179$ ) between two of the employment groups with group 1 (full time employed;  $\underline{X}$  = 2.98) scoring higher than group 4 (not employed,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.75).
- (c) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 5.58, d.f. = 4/799,  $\underline{p} \le .0002$ ) between recognition groups with group 3 (increased salary aspect,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.25) scoring higher than group 2 (CEU credit,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.85).
- (d) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 4.69, d.f. = 6/837,  $\underline{p} \le .0001$ ) among organizational groupings with group 2 (business-industry  $\underline{X}$  = 3.17) scoring higher than group 5 (nurses,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.87), group 3 (vocational-technical,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.80) and group 4 (community colleges,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.77).

Benefit 19: 'Gaining qualifications which enable me to assume a wider variety of résponsibilities.

- (a) There was a significant difference (F = 7.37, d.f. = 3/732, p < .0001) between two of the sex/marital groups with group 3 (married/males, X = 2.98) scoring higher than group 4 (married females, X = 2.66).
- (b) There was a significant difference (F = 6.21, d.f. = 3/732, p < .0004) between two of the employment groupings with group 1 (full time employed, X = 2.91) scoring higher than group 2 (part time employed, X = 2.62).
- '(c) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 7.40, d.f. = 4/674,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among recognition groups with group 5 (promotional related aspect,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.45) and group 3 (increase salary aspect,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.20) scoring higher than group 2 (CEU credit,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.67); group 3 (increased salary aspect,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.20) scored higher than group 1 (no special recognition,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.72).
  - (d) There was a significant difference (F = 3.82, d.f. = 6/730,  $p \le .0009$ ) between organizational groupings with group 2 (business-managers X = 3.01) scoring higher than group 5 (nurses, X = 2.66).

<u>Perceived Value of Noncredit Adult Education and Significant Differences on Selected Factors</u>

Overall value of noncredit educational experiences differed among several areas including education groups, number of noncredit learning

experiences, and enrollment reason. The analysis relative to perceived overall value is presented in the following data analysis.

- (a) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 4.96, d.f. = 5/1325,  $\underline{p} \le .0002$ ) among the education groups with group 2 (grades 9-11,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.44) scoring lower than group 3 (grade 12,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.75), group 5 (Bachelor's Degree,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.74), group 6 (graduate study,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.73), and group 4 (1-3 yrs. of college,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.73).
- (b) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 5.49, d.f. = 3/1301,  $\underline{p}$  < .0010) between two of the groups on number of noncredit adult learning experiences completed in the past two years and group 4 (6 or more learning experiences,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.81) scored higher than group 1 (this was the first learning experience,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.59).
- (c) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 7.17, d.f. = 1/1312,  $\underline{p}$  < .0075) for enrollment reason and those who voluntarily enrolled ( $\underline{X} \ge 2.71$ ) scored higher than those who were required to enroll ( $\underline{X}$  = 2.53).
- (d) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  5.90, d.f. = 6/1328.  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among organizational groups with group 1 (adult basic education,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.40) scoring lower than group 7 (Cooperative Extension Service-Non Pride,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.86), group 6 (Cooperative Extension-Pride  $\underline{X}$  = 2.82), group 2 (business-managers,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.78), group 4 (dommunity College,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.74), and group 5 (nurses,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.67).

# Perceived Strengths and Weaknesses of Selected Factors Having Significant Differences for Kansas Adult Learners

As reported in the study of four groups of noncredit learners\*(Oaklief, 1982) there was at least one significant difference for each of the seven strength ratings. The strengths were tested with groupings on sex/marital status, age, employment, education, number of learning experiences completed in the last two years, recognition received upon successful completion, perceived satisfaction, percent of cost assumed by participant, length of the learning experience, and organizational groups. Respondents rated each of the seven strengths on a four point scale.

The one-way analysis of variance also indicated a significant difference for the overall ratings on strength of the learning experience and organizational group of the respondents. A listing of these significant differences follows.

- Strength 1: The knowledge or professional expertise of leader(s) or teacher(s).
  - (a) There was a significant difference (F = 3.94, d.f. = 3/1239, p < .0083) between two of the sex/marital groups, with group 3 (married males, X = 3.66) scoring higher than group 2 (single females, X = 3.48).
  - (b) There were significant differences (F = 7.54, d.f. = 3/1241, p < .0001) among the employment groups with group 4 (not employed, X = 3.38) scoring lower than group 2 (part time employed, X = 3.66), group 3 (irregular employed basis, X = 3.64), and group 1 (full time employed, X = 3.60).
  - (c) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 4.46, d.f. 4/1165,  $\underline{p}$  < .0014) among recognition groups with group 2 (CEU credit,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.63) and group 4 (a certificate,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.62) scoring higher than group 1 (no special recognition,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.43).
  - (d) There was a significant difference (F = 5.19, d.f. = 6/1239,  $p \le .0000$ ) between organizational groupings with group 2 (business-industry, X = 3.70) scoring higher than group 1 (adult basic education, X = 3.39).
- Strength 2: The ability of the leader(s) or teacher(s) to explain or demonstrate.
  - (a) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F} = 5.85$ , d.f. = 6/1247,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among organizational groupings with group 2 (business-managers,  $\underline{X} = 3.72$ ) scoring higher than group 5 (nurses,  $\underline{X} = 3.48$ ), group 3 (vocational-technical,  $\underline{X} = 3.45$ ), and group 6 (Cooperative Fxtension Service Pride,  $\underline{X} = 3.42$ ).

## Strength 3: The equipment.

- (a) There was a significant difference (F = 4.07, d.f. = 3/988, p < .0069) between two of the sex/marital groups with group 1 (single males, X = 3.33) scoring higher than group 4 (married females X = 3.11).
- Strength 4: The learning materials supplied (books, pamphlets, practice materials).
  - (a) There was a significant difference (F = 3.94, d.f. = 3/1172, p < .0082) between two of the sex/marital groups with group 3 (married males, X = 3.48) scoring higher than group 4 (married females, X = 3.30).
  - (b) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 6.98, d.f. = 4/1099,  $\underline{p}$  < .0000) among recognition groups with group 4 (a certificate,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.51) scoring higher than group 2 (CEU-credit,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.35) and group  $\underline{T}$  (no special recognition,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.20).
  - (c). There were significant differences (F = 6.22, d.f. = 6/1171.  $p \le 0.000$ ) among organizational groupings with group 2 (business-managers, X = 3.60) scoping higher than group 5 (nurses, X = 3.33), group 4

(community colleges, X = 3.28), group 6 (Cooperative Extension Service-Non Pride, X = 3.26), and group 7 (Cooperative Extension Service-Non Pride, X = 3.09).

### Strength 5: Having enough time to learn.

- (a) There was a significant difference (F = 2.45, d.f. = 5/1138. p < .0323) between groups for length of the learning experience with group 6 (50 or more hours, X = 3.21) scoring higher than group 1 (1-9 hours, X = 2.94).
- (b) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 2.62,  $\underline{d}$ .f. = 6/1160,  $\underline{p}$  < .0158) between organizational groupings with group 1 (adult basic education,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.33) scoring higher than group 4 (community college,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.94).

### Strength 6: Availability of individual help.

- (a) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 10.71, d.f. = 3/1049,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among all of the sex/marital groups with group 4 (married females,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.90) scoring lower than group 1 (single males,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.24), group 3 (married males,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.20), and group 2 (single females,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.16).
- (b) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 4.24, d.f. = 4/1047,  $\underline{p}$  < .0021) between two of the age groupings with group 1 (under 25 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.23) scoring higher than group 3 (34-49 years,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.98).
- (c) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 9.07, d.f. = 5/1045,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among education groups with group 4 (1-3 yrs. of college,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.90) and group 6 (graduate study,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.95) scoring lower than group 2 (grade 9-11,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.38) and group  $\overline{3}$  (grade 12,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.26).
- (d) There were significant differences (F = 10.92, d.f. = 3/1027,  $p_{\rm c}$  .0000) among groups on number of noncredit adult learning experiences completed in the last two years with group 3 (4 or 5 learning experiences, X = 2.80) scoring lower than group 1 (this was the first learning experience, X = 3.21) and group 2 (2 or 3 learning experiences, X = 3.11); group 4 (6 or more learning experiences, X = 2.90) scored Tower than group 1 (this was the first learning experience, X = 3.21).
- (e) There was a significant difference (F = 3.77, d... = 5/1022,  $p \le .0022$ ) between two groups on cost of the learning experience with group 1 (no cost, X = 3.18) scoring higher than group 6 (100%, X = 2.94).
- (f) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 15.99, d.f. = 4/972,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among recognition groups with group 2 (CEU credit,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.76) scoring lower than group 3 (increased salary aspect,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.39), group 4 (a certificate,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.24) and group 1 (no special recognition,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.09).
- (g) There were significant differences (F = 19.45, d.f. = 6/1048, p < .0000) among organizational groupings and group 5 (nurses, X = 2.68) scored lower than group 1 (adult basic education, X = 3.53), group 4

(community college, X=3.25), group 2 (business-managers X=3.22), group 6 (Cooperative Extension Service-Pride, X=3.18), and group 3 (vocational-technical, X=3.09); group 1 (adult basic education, X=3.53) scored higher than group 3 (vocational-technical, X=3.09).

### Strength 7: "Homework" assignments, projects.

- (a) There were significant differences (F = 5.03, d.f. = 3/633. p < .0019) among three of the employment groups with group 2 (part time employed, X = 2.60) scoring lower than group 4 (not employed, X = 3.06), and group 1 (full time employed, X = 2.88).
- (b) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 5.61, d.f. = 5/627,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among three of the education groups with group 4 (1-3 yrs. of college,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.62) scoring lower than group 2 (grade 9-11,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.06) and group 3 (grade 12,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.06).
- (c) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 4.82, d.f. = 3/619,  $\underline{p} \le .0025$ ) among groups for number of noncredit adult learning experiences completed in the last two years with group 4 (6 or more learning experiences,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.61) scoring lower than group 1 (this was the first learning experience,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.96) and group 2 (2 or 3 learning experiences,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.94).
- (d) There were significant differences  $(\underline{F} = 12.62, d.f. = 4/571, \underline{p} < .0000)$  among recognition groups with group 2 (CEU credit,  $\underline{X} = 2.49$ ) scoring lower than group 3 (increased salary aspect,  $\underline{X} = 3.24$ ), group 4 (a certificate,  $\underline{X} = 3.06$ ) and group 1 (no special recognition,  $\underline{X} = 2.80$ ).
- (e) There were significant differences (F = 6.59, d.f. = 5/613,  $p \le .0000$ ) among groups for length of the learning experience with group 5 (40-49 hours, X = 3.27) and group 6 (50 or more hours, X = 3.08) scoring higher than group 3 (20-29 hours, X = 2.68) and group 1 (1-9 hours, X = 2.61).
- (f) There are significant differences (F = 11.04, d.f. = 6/630, p < .000C) among organization groupings with group 5 (nurses; X = 2.40) scoring lower than group 1 (adult basic education X = 3.19), group 3 (vocational-technical, X = 3.12), group 4 (community college, X = 2.98), group 2 (business-managers, X = 2.93), and group 6 (Cooperative Extension Service-Pride, X = 2.89).

### Strength - Overall Mean

- (a) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 4.47, d.f. = 4/1248,  $\underline{p} \le .0014$ ) among three of the <u>age groupings</u> with group 1 (under 25,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.48) scoring lower than group 5 (65 yrs. and over,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.76) and group 4 (50-64 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.65).
- (b) There was a significant difference (F = 3.42, d.f. = 5/1227,  $p \le .0045$ ) between two groups on cost of the learning experience with group 1 (no cost, X = 3.62) scoring higher than group 5 (75-99%, X = 3.38).

(c) There was a significant difference (F = 3.76, d.f. = 6/1250, p < .0010) between organizational groupings with group 4 (community colleges, X = 3.71) scoring higher than group 3 (vocational-technical, X = 3.42).

# Perceived Satisfaction and Selected Factors Having Significant Differences for Kansas Adult Learners

The participant's satisfaction differed significantly on eight factors.

These differences are reported in the following data.

- (a) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 10.29, d.f. = 3/1303,  $\underline{p}$  < .0000) among all of the <u>sex/marital groups</u> with group 4 (married females,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.54) scoring lower than group 3 (married males,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.84), group 1 (single males,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.77), and group 2 (single females,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.73).
- (b) There was a significant difference (F = 3.99, d.f. = 3/1305, p < .0077) between two of the employment groups with group 1 (full time employed, X = 3.74) scoring higher than group 2 (part time employed, X = 3.55).
- (c) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 7.29, d.f. = 5/1300, p < .0000) among education groups with group 1 (grade 8 or less,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.39) scoring lower than group 2 (grade 9-11,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.90); group 4 (1-3 yrs. of college,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.55) scored lower than group 2 (grade 9-11,  $\underline{X}$  =3:90; and group 3 (grade 12,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.84).
- (d) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 2.91, d.f. = 3/1277,  $\underline{p} \le .0336$ ) between two groups on number of noncredit adult learning experiences completed in the last two years with group 2 (2 or 3 learning experiences,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.74) scoring higher than group 3 (4 or 5 learning experiences,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.54).
- (e) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 4.50, d.f. = 5/1273,  $\underline{p} \le 0.005$ ) between two groups on cost of the learning experience with group 1 (no cost,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.76) scoring higher than group 6 (100%,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.56).
- (f) There were significant differences (F = 19.86, d.f. = 4/1211, p < .0000) among recognition groups with group 5 (promotional related aspect, X = 4.21) and group 4 (a certificate, X = 3.91) scoring higher than group 1 (no special recognition, X = 3.52) and group 2 (CEU credit, X = 3.46).
- (g) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 6.37, d.f. = 5/1274,  $\underline{p} < .0000$ ) among groups for length of the learning experience with group 1 (1-9 hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.49) scoring lower than group 5 (40-49 hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.89), group 6 (50 or more hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.80), group 2 (10-19 hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.76), and group 4 (30-39 hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.75).
- (h) There were significant differences (F = 16.27, d.f. = 6/1303, p < .0000) among organizational groupings with group 5 (nurses, X = 3.41) scoring lower than group 2 (business-managers, X = 3.99), group 1 (adult basic education, X = 3.94), group 6 (Cooperative Extension

36

Service—Pride  $\underline{X}$  = 3.85), and group 4 (community college,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.69); group 2 (business-managers,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.99) scored higher than group 4 (community colleges,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.69) and group 3 (vocation 1-technical,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.66).

Extent of Participation in the Learning Experience and Significant Differences on Selected Factors

Each participation opportunity area generated significant differences over severa? analysis groups. The opportunity to participate in developing the goals and ideas for the learning experience generated significant differences over nine areas. The opportunity to share experiences in the learning environment generated eight significant differences. The opportunity to contribute to the process by which the learning experience was evaluated contained four areas of significant differences as indicated in the following information.

Opportunity 1: Participate in developing the goals and ideas for the learning experience.

- (a) There were significant differences (F = 21.01, d.f. = 3/1274, p < .0000) among the sex/marital groups with group 4 (married females, X = 2.50) scoring lower than group 1 (single males, X = 3.06), group 3 (married males, X = 3), and group 2 (single females, X = 2.74); group 2 (single females, X = 2.74) scored lower than group T (single males, X = 3.06), and group 3 (married males, X = 3).
- (b) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  10.70, d.f. = 4/1270,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among age groupings with group 1 (under 25 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.07) scoring higher than group 4 (50-64 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.78), group 3 (35-49 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.67); and group 2 (25-34 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.52); group 4 (50-64 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.78) scored lower than group 2 (25-34 yrs.,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.52).
- (c) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 8.51, d.f. = 3/1274,  $\underline{P}$  < = .0000) among three of the <u>employment groupings</u> with group 2 (part time employed,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.46) scoring lower than group 1 (full time employed,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.83), and group 4 (not employed,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.76).
- (d) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 16.20, d.f. = 5/1269,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among education groups with group 5 (Bachelor's Degree,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.35) scoring lower than group 2 (grade 9-11,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.14), group 3 (grade 12,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.05), group 1 (grade 8 or less,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.95) and group 4 (1-3 yrs. of college,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.65); group 6 (graduate study,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.60) and group 4 (1-3 yrs. of college,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.65) scored lower than group 2 (grade 9-11,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.14) and group 3 (grade 12,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.05).

- (e) There were significant differences (F = 17.25, d.f. = 3/1248, p < .0000) among groups on number of noncredit adult learning experiences completed in the last two years with group 1 (this was the first learning experience, X = 2.90) and group 2 (2 or 3 learning experiences, X = 2.87) scoring higher than group 3 (4 or 5 learning experiences, X = 2.87) and group 4 (6 or more learning experiences, X = 2.42).
- (f) There was a significant difference (F = 3.90, d.f. = 5/1245, p < .0016) between two groups on cost of the learning experience with group 4 (50-74%, X = 3.01) scoring higher than group 6 (100%, X = 2.57).
- (g) There were significant differences (F = 28.31, d.f. = 4/1186, p < .0000) among recognition groups with group 2 (CEU credit, X = 2.33) scoring lower than group 5 (promotional related aspect, X = 3.36), group 4 (a certificate, X = 3.01), group 3 (increased salary aspect, X = 2.98), and group 1 (no special recognition, X = 2.82).
- (h) There were significant differences (F = 10.53, d.f. = 5/1250, p < .0000) among groups for length of the learning experience with group 1 (1-9 hours, X = 2.47) scoring lower than group 6 (50 or more hours, X = 3.06), group 2 (10-19 hours, X = 2.86), and group 4 (30-39 hours, X = 2.84); group 3 (20-29 hours, X = 2.63) scored lower than group 6 (50 or more hours, X = 3.06).
- (i) There were significant differences (F = 23.49, d.f. = 6/1272, p < .0000) among organizational groupings with group 5 (hurses, X = 2.30) scoring lower than group 1 (adult basic education, X = 3.15), group 8 (vocational-technical, X = 3.04), group 2 (business-managers, X = 3.03), group 6 (Cooperative Extension Service-Pride, X = 3.01), and group 4 (community colleges, X = 2.78).
- Opportunity 2: Share their own experiences so that others could learn from these.
  - (a) There were significant differences (F = 18.38, d.f. = 3/1269,  $p \le .0000$ ) 'among three of the <u>sex/marital groups</u> with group 3 (married males, X = 3.22) scoring higher than group 4 (married females, X = 2.77) and group 2 (single females, X = 2.79).
  - (b) There was a significant difference (F = 4.73; d.f. = 3/1269, p < .0028) between two of the employment groups with group 1 (full time employed, X = 2.99) scoring higher than group 4 (not employed, X = 2.79).
  - (c) There were significant differences (F = 5.16, d.f. = 3/1244, p < .0015) among groups on number of noncredit adult learning experiences completed in the past two years with group 2 (2 or 3 learning experiences, X = 3.04) ing higher than group 4 (6 or more learning experiences, X = 2.00) and group 3 (4 or 5 learning experiences, X = 2.79).
  - (d) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 4.93, d.f. = 1/1252,  $\underline{p} \le$  .0266) for enrollment reason and those who were required to

- enroll (X = 3.08) scored higher than those who voluntarily enrolled (X = 2.89).
- (e) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F} = 5.77$ , d.f. = 5/1238,  $\underline{p} \le .0022$ ) between two groups on cost of the learning experience with group 1 (no cost,  $\underline{X} = 3.03$ ) scoring higher than group 6 (100%,  $\underline{X} = 2.78$ ).
- (f) There were significant differences (F = 21.10. d.f. = 4/1183,  $P \le 0.000$ ) among recognition groups with group 2 (CEU credit, X = 2.63) scoring lower than group 5 (promotional related aspect, X = 3.46), group 3 (increased salary aspect, X = 3.31) group 4 (a certificate, X = 3.14) and group 1 (no special recognition, X = 2.95).
- There were significant difference ( $\underline{F}$  = 5.44, d.f. = 5/1245,  $\underline{p}$  < .0001) among groups for length of the learning experience with group  $\underline{T}$  (1-9 hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.72) scoring lower than group 6 (50 or more hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.11) and group 4 (30-39 hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.01).
- (n) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 20.32, d.f. = 6/1267,  $\underline{p} < .0000$  among organizational groupings with group 5 (nurses,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.62) scoring lower than group 2 (business-managers,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.39), group 6 (Cooperative Extension Service-Papide,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.13), group 4 (community colleges,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.98) and group 3 (vocational-technical,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.98); group 2 (business-managers,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.39) scored higher than group 4 (community college,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.98), group 3 (vocational technical,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.98), group 7 (Cooperative Extension Service Non-Pride,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.79), group 1 (adult basic education,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.78) and group 5 (nurses,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.62).
- Opportunity 3: Contribute to the process by which the learning experience was evaluated.
  - (a) There were significant differences (F = 8.99, d.f. = 3/1260,  $p \le 0.000$ ) among the <u>sex/marital groups</u> with group 3 (married males, X = 3.07) scoring higher than group 4 (married females, X = 2.80) and group 2 (single females, X = 2.65).
  - (b) There was a significant difference ( $\underline{F} = 5.35$ , d.f. = 4/1174,  $\underline{p} < .0003$ ) between recognition groups with group 4 (a certificate,  $\overline{X} = 2.97$ ) scoring higher than group 1 (no special recognition, X = 2.68).
  - (c) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 5.96, d.f. = 5/1238,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among groups for <u>length of the learning experience</u> with group 1 (1-9 hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.63) scoring lower than group 4 (30-39 hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.00), group 3 (20-29 hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.96), and group 6 (50 or more hours,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.95).
  - (d) There were ignificant differences  $\underline{F}=5.93$ , d.f. = 6/1259,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among organizational groupings with group 2 (business-managers,  $\underline{X}=3.20$ ) scoring higher than group 4 (community college,  $\underline{X}=2.80$ ), group 6 (Cooperative Extension Service-Pride,  $\underline{X}=2.77$ ), group 5 (nurses,  $\underline{X}=2.77$ ) and group 3 (vocational-technical,  $\underline{X}=2.71$ ).

#### Opportunity Mean

- (a) There were significant differences (F = 22.02, d.f. = 3/1249,  $p \le .0000$ ) among sex/marital groupings with group 4 (married females, X = 2.69) and group 2 (single females, X = 2.72) scoring lower than group 3 (married males, X = 3.10) and group 1 (single males, X = 2.98).
- (b) There was a significant difference (F = 4.10, d.f. = 4/1245, p < .0027) between two of the <u>age groupings</u> with group 1 (under 25 yrs., X = 2.99) scoring higher than group 2 (25-34 yrs., X = 2.72).
- (c) There was a significant difference (F = 5.11, d.f. = 3/1249, p < .0016) between two of the employment groups with group 1 (full time employed, X = 2.90) scoring higher than group 2 (part time employed, X = 2.70).
- (d) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 6.29, d.f. = 5/1244,  $\underline{p}$  < .0000) among education groups with group 5 (Bachelor's Degree,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.67) scoring lower than group 2 (grade 9-11,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.03) and group 3 (grade 12,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.00); group 4 (1-3 yrs. of colTege,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.76) scored lower than group 3 (grade 12,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.00).
- (e) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 6.46, d.f. = 3/1224,  $\underline{p} \le .0002$ ) among groups on number of noncredit adult learning experiences completed in the last two years with group 2 (2 or 3 learning experiences,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.94) scoring higher than group 4 (6 or more learning experiences,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.72) and group 3 (4 or 5 learning experiences,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.69).
- (f) There were significant difference (F = 22.03, d.f. = 47164, p < .0000) among recognition groups with group 1 (no special recognition, X = 2.81) scoring lower than group 4 (a certificate, X = 3.04); group 2 (CEU credit, X = 2.58) scored lower than group 5 (promotional related aspect, X = 3.41), group 3 (increased salary aspect, X = 3.10), group 4 (a certificate, X = 3.04) and group 1 (no special recognition, X = 2.81).
- (g) There were significant differences (F = 9.43, d.f. = 5/1226, p < .0000) among groups for length of the learning experience with group 1 (1-9 hours, X = 2.61) scoring lower than group 6 (50 or more hours, X = 3.04), group 4 (30-39 hours, X = 2.94) group 2 (10-19 hours, X = 2.88) and group 3 (20-29 hours, X = 2.84).
- (h) There were significant differences (F = 18.72, d.f. = 6/1247, p < .0000) among organizational groupings with group 5 (nurses, X = 2.57) scoring lower than group 2 (business-managers, X = 3.21), group 6 (Cooperative Extension Service-Pride, X = 2.97), group 1 (adult basic education, X = 2.92), group 3 (vocational-technical, X = 2.91) and group 4 (community college, X = 2.85); group 2 (business-industry, X = 3.21) scored higher than group 4 (community college, X = 2.85), group 7 (Cooperative Extension Service Non-Pride, X = 2.75), and group 5 (nurses, X = 2.57).

## Significant Differences on Overall Noneconomic and Economic Benefits

There were seven areas of overall significant differences on economic and four areas on noneconomic benefit areas. The analysis revealed the following data.

#### Overall Economic Benefits

- (a) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F} = 7.09$ , d.f. = 4/1326,  $\underline{p} < .0000$ ) among the <u>age groupings</u> with group 5 (65 yrs. and over;  $\overline{X} = 1.57$ ) scoring lower than group 2 (25-34 yrs.,  $\underline{X} = 2.42$ ), group T (under 25 yrs.,  $\underline{X} = 2.24$ ), and group 3 (35-49 yrs.,  $\underline{X} = 2.17$ ); group 4 (50-64 yrs.,  $\underline{X} = 2.10$ ) scored lower than group 2 (25-34 yrs.;  $\underline{X} = 2.42$ ).
- (b) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 15.44, d... = 3/1330,  $\underline{p} < .0000$ ) among three of the employment groupings with group 4 (not employed,  $\underline{X}$  = 1.73) scoring lower than group 1 (full time employed,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.34) and group 2 (part time employed,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.32).
- (c) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 6.29, d.f. = 5/1325,  $\underline{p} \le .0000$ ) among education groups with group 4 (1-3 yrs. of college,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.42) scoring higher than group 3 (grade 12,  $\underline{X}$  = 1.97) and group 1 (grade 8 or less,  $\underline{X}$  = 1.67).
- (d) There were significant differences (F = 18.59, d.f. = 3/1301, p < .0000) among groups on number of noncredit adult learning experiences completed in the last two years with group 1 (this was the first learning experience, X = 1.86) scoring lower than group 2 (2 or 3 learning experiences, X = 2.24), group 3 (4 or 5 learning experiences, X = 2.40), and group 4 (6 or more more learning experiences, X = 2.55); group 2 (2 or 3 learning experiences, X = 2.24) scored lower than group 4 (6 or more learning experiences, X = 2.55).
- (e) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 50.81, d.f. = 4/1251,  $\underline{p} < .0000$ ) among recognition groups with group 4 (a certificate,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.37) scoring lower than group 3 (increased salary aspect,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.99); group 1 (no special recognition,  $\underline{X}$  = 1.33) scored lower than group 5 (promotional related aspect,  $\underline{X}$  = 3.26), group 3 (increased salary aspect,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.99), group 2 (CEU credit,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.55), and group 4 (a certificate,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.37).
- (f) There were significant differences (F = 7.65 d.f. = 5/1287, p < .0000) among groups for length of learning experience with group 2 (10-19 hours, X = 1.92) scoring lower than group 5 (40-49 hours, X = 2.56), group 3 (20-29 hours, X = 2.44), group 4 (30-39 hours, X = 2.40), and group 6 (50 or more hours, X = 2.39); group 1 (1-9 hours, X = 2.05) scored lower than group 3 (20-29 hours, X = 2.44).
- (g) There were significant differences (F = 36.23, d.f. = 6/1328, p < .0000) among organizational groupings with group 4 (community colleges, X = 1.37) scoring lower than group 2 (business-managers, X = 2.81), group 5 (nurses, X = 2.55), group 3 (vocational-technical, X = 2.18) and group 1 (adult basic education, X = 2.09); group 2

(business-managers, X = 2.81) and group 5 (nurses, X = 2.55) scored higher than group 1 (adult basic education, X = 2.09), group 7 (Cooperative Extension Service-Non Pride, X = 1.81) and group 6 (cooperative extension service-Pride, X = 1.77); group 2 (business-managers, X = 2.81) scored higher than group 3 (vocational-technical, X = 2.18).

## Overall Noneconomic Benefits'

- (a) There were significant differences ( $\underline{F}$  = 5.44, d.f. = 5/1325, p < .0001) among education groups with group 2 (grade 9-11,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.42) scoring lower than group 3 (grade 12,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.76), group 5 (Bachelor's Degree,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.75), group 6 (graduate study,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.74) and group 4 (1-3 yrs. of college,  $\underline{X}$  = 2.71).
- (b) There was a significant difference (F = 4.86, d.f. = 3/1301, p < .0023) for two of the groups on number of noncredit adult learning experiences completed in the last two years with group 4 (6 or more learning experiences, X = .2.81) scoring higher than group 1 (this was the first learning experience, X = 2.60).
- (c) There was a significant difference (F = 7.06, d.f. = 1/1312, p < .0080) between enrollment reasons and those who voluntarily enrolled (X = 2.71) scored higher than those who were required to enroll. (X = 2.53).
- (d) There were significant differences (F = 5.69, d.f. = 6/1328,  $p \le .0000$ ) among organizational groupings with group 1 (adult basic education, X = 2.40) scoring lower than group 7 (Cooperative Extension Service Non Pride, X = 2.87) group 6 (Cooperative Extension Service Pride, X = 2.82), group 2 (business-managers, X = 2.77), group 4 (community colleges, X = 2.75), and group 5 nurses, X = 2.68).

## Summary and Recommendations

Data analysis and findings of the research project to determine benefits and characteristics of noncredit adult education in Kansas were based upon the responses of 1,334 adults representing seven different provider groups. These provider groups included adult basic education, business managers, vocational-technical schools, community colleges, registered nurses, and Cooperative Extension Service Pride and Non Pride. The population responded to a questionnaire (see Appendix A) designed to obtain demographic data, learning experience data, and benefit and satisfaction levels of the non-credit adult learning experience.

The findings are summarized for each of the seven provider groups followed by ecommendation statements.

## Adult Basic Education Group

Summary. The 136 adult basic education respondents were, for the most part, single males and females under 34 years of age possessing less than a high school education and they were either unemployed or employed full time. The data revealed that this was their first noncredit adult learning experience in 71.3 percent of the cases. Over 90 percent of the adult basic education group participated in the learning experience voluntarily order to overcome an educational weakness and to learn more. The length of their learning experiences, for 36.4 percent, was 50 or more hours and participants did not contribute to the cost of the learning experience in 58.5 percent of the cases. A certificate for successful completion of the learning experience was received by 57.7 percent and 28.8 percent reported no special recognition.

In terms of their overall satisfaction of the noncredit adult learning experience, 37 percent were "quite" satisfied and 36.2 percent were "very" satisfied. Strengths of the learning experience were considered to be the availability of individual help and the ability of the teachers to explain and demonstrate. Their highest opportunity to participate in the noncredit adult learning experience was in helping to develop the goals and ideas for their learning.

Adult basic education survey participants indicated their most relevant benefit to be that of improving skill in reading, writing, and speaking and their second most relevant benefit was to become better informed about a subject or area of knowledge. Adult basic education respondents rated the actual benefit level of the noncredit adult learning experience at 2.79 from a possible 4 point scale. Their highest actual benefit received was for



"developing a positive feeling about themselves and their work as a person" followed closely by "improving their interest and skill in learning more," and "gaining satisfaction from being involved in self-improvement." Adult basic education participants received both noneconomic and economic benefits from their learning experiences.

### Recommendations for Providers of Adult Basic Education.

- .1. Continue to provide noncredit adult learning experiences for participants since they did benefit from these experiences and they indicated satisfaction with their learning experiences.
- 2. Continue to employ teachers with high expertise who have the ability to explain and demonstrate.
- 3. Continue to provide for the participant's development of positive feelings and worth as a person.
- 4. Continue to emphasize the development of self-reliance and independence among participants.
- 5. Continue to emphasize progress toward participant's overcoming educational weaknesses, learning more, and expanding student's minds.
- 6. Encourage participation from married males and females over 35 years.
- 7. Present a certificate for successful completion of the learning experience.
- 8. Provide an opportunity for participants to share personal experiences and to contribute to the evaluation process.
- 9. Emphasize improvement in equipment and the learning@materials supplied.

## Business Managers Group

Summary. There were 210 managers responding to the survey indicating this group to be composed of 76.7 percent married males with 37.8 percent



from the 25-34 age category, 26.3 percent from the 35-49 age category, and 15.3 percent from the 50-64 age category. Approximately 97 percent were employed full time and only .05 percent were unemployed. Business managers having completed the twelfth grade represented 37.5 percent of the population, those completing 1-3 years of college represented 24 percent, and those with a bachelor's degree represented 23.6 percent. Over the last two years; 57.1 percent of the business managers completed two or three noncredit adult learning experiences; however, 22.2 percent indicated that this was the first noncredit adult learning experience completed in the last two years.

Over 80 percent of the respondents from the business manager group participated voluntarily. Reasons for their voluntary encoliment included "wanting to learn more and expand their minds," 31.7 percent; "improving their chances for promotion," 19.6 percent; "developing a special skill," 14.8 percent; and "overcoming an educational weakness," 12.8 percent. Approximately 68 percent of the business managers made no financial contribution to their learning experience while 14.1 percent contributed up to 24 percent of the total cost. The length of the learning experience reported by 33.6 percent of the business managers was in the 20-29 hour category, 22 percent in the 30-39 hour category, and only 9.8 percent in the 1-9 hour and the 40-49 hour category.

Business managers received a certificate for successful completion of the learning experience in 86.9 percent of the cases while 7.9 percent received no special recognition. They were "very" satisfied with their learning experiences in 14.6 percent of the cases, 70.8 percent were "quite" satisfied, 13.1 percent were "moderately" satisfied, and 1.5 indicated "slight" satisfaction. Not one business manager reported that they were "not at all satisfied." Out of a possible 5 point scale, a satisfaction mean of 3.99 was recorded.

The ability of the leader or teachers to explain or demonstrate was ranked first as a strength of the noncredit adult learning experience, while homework assignments and having enough time for learning were ranked sixth and seventh out of the seven features. The highest opportunity to participate was for sharing of personal experiences so others could learn from these experiences. Business managers were highest in the overall opportunity to participate when compared with the seven participant groups.

The relevance of the 19 benefits was reported to be in both the economic and noneconomic areas. "Becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge" was the most relevant benefit, while "preparing to handle increased responsibilities which would make their job more important", was the second most relevant benefit expected from their learning experience.

In terms of actual benefits received from the learning experience, respondents from the business manager group rated "becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge" as their highest actual benefit with a mean score of 3.22 out of the 4 point scale. The second highest actual benefit, with a mean of 3.17, was for "learning about recent knowledge affecting my work." The economic benefit mean was 2.93, the noneconomic benefit mean was 2.88.

## Recommendations for Providers of Business Manager Training

- 1. Continue to offer noncredit adult learning experiences because participants did receive benefits and they were satisfied with their experience.
- 2. Continue to utilize teachers and instructors who possess the knowledge and professional expertise and who have the ability to explain and demonstrate.
  - 3. Emphasize the hiring and development of female managers

- 4. Continue the process of providing business managers with educational experiences which are based on strong subject/knowledge benefit areas.
- 5. Job oriented education should be provided as a variable of the economic benefits of noncredit adult education for business managers.

  Vocational-Technical Group
- Summary. Out of the 135 vocational-technical respondents, 34.1 percent were married males and the other three categories of single females, single males, and married females represented approximately 20 percent each.

  Approximately half of the respondents were under 25 years of age, possessed a high school education, and were employed full time. Those not employed represented 19.3 percent and those employed on an irregular basis represented 8.1 percent.

This was the first noncredit adult learning experience completed in the last two years for 62.9 percent and 85.2 percent voluntarily enrolled in the learning experience. Twenty-seven percent indicated that they paid 100 percent of the cost of their learning experience and 53.6 percent reported the length of their experience to be 50 or more hours. A certificate was received for successful completion of the learning experience by 59.7 percent of the participants.

Forty-four percent were "quite" satisfied with their learning experience and an overall satisfaction mean of 3.66, from a possible 5 point scale, was recorded. Among the seven strength features of the learning experience, the two highest ranked were the "expertise of the leader and teachers" and the "ability of the leaders and teachers to demonstrate." The lowest ranked strength was for "the availability of individual help."

The top two most relevant of the 19 benefits for the vocationaltechnical group were "becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge" and "improving interest and/or skill in learning more." The were for "becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge," with a mean score of 3.06 from the 4 point scale, and "increasing their job earnings by improving their qualifications" and "preparing to handle increased responsibilities which will make my job more important" with mean scores of 2.97. The overall mean score for the 19 benefits was 2.74.

## Recommendations for Providers of Vocational-Technical Education.

- 1. Continue to provide noncredit adult learning experiences for participants since they did benefit from these experiences and they were satisfied with the experiences.
- 2. Continue to employ teachers with high expertise who have the ability to explain and demonstrate.
- 3. Encourage participants to re-enroll in noncredit adult learning experiences.
  - 4. Encourage participation of those persons over 35 years of age.
  - 5. Encourage teachers to give students individual help.
- 6. Encourage participation of those employed part time, those employed on an irregular basis, and those not employed.
- 7. Award a certificate for successful completion of the learning experience.

## Community College Group

Summary. The community college participants were primarily married females, 49.5 percent, and were under 65 years of age. Over half of the 206 respondents were employed full time and their educational level included some previous college work. Within the last two years, this group completed their first noncredit adult learning experience in 51.5 percent of the cases. Those indicating voluntary enrollment represented 91.3 percent of the respondents. Over half contributed 100 percent of the cost for their

48



68

learning experience and 48.2 percent received no special recognition for successfully completing their learning experience.

Approximately 50 percent of the respondents were "quite" satisfied with the noncredit adult learning experience and a mean score of 3.69, out of a 5 point scale, was reported for the overall satisfaction rating. The strengths of the learning experience were the "expertise of leaders and teachers" and the "ability of leaders and teachers to explain and demonstrate." The highest opportunity to participate in the learning experience was "sharing their own experiences so others could learn from these."

Out of the 19 possible benefits, the most relevant was for "becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge." The overall benefit mean was 2.80 from the 4 point scale while the overall noneconomic mean for the first 13 benefits was 2.80 and the overall economic mean for the last six benefit items was 2.73.

## Recommendations for Providers of Community College Education.

- 1. Continue to provide noncredit adult learning experiences for participants since they did benefit from these experiences and they were satisfied with the experiences.
- 2. Continue to employ teachers with high expertise who have the ability to explain and demonstrate.
- 3. Encourage participation from those persons 65 years of age and older.
  - 4. Encourage participation of single males.
  - 5. Encourage participation of those persons not employed full time.
  - 6. Encourage re-enrollment of participants.

## Registered Nurses Group

<u>Summary</u>. Out of the 446 nurses surveyed, 81.4 percent were married females, while approximately 30 percent of the participants were in each of



the age groups including 25-34, 35-49, and 50-64. Only 1.6 percent of the nurse participants were under 25 years of age and over half of the respondents had completed 1-3 years of college. The majority of nurses were employed full time or part time and 46.3 percent had completed six or more learning experiences within the last two years. Those nurses indicating a voluntary enrollment reason represented 92.8 percent of the survey respondents. Their contribution to the cost of the learning experience was 100 percent in 58.4 percent of the cases and those not contributing to the cost represented 18:9 percent of the respondents. The length of the learning experience as reported by 31.2 percent was for the 1-9 hour category and 27.1 percent reported a length of 20-29 hours. Nurses were awarded a continuing education unit, according to 95.5 percent of the respondents, as recognition for successful completion of the learning experience.

Those survey participants rating their overall satisfaction of the noncredit learning experience reported a "very" satisfied rating in only 2.5 percent of the cases, while 46.4 percent were "quite" satisfied, and 41.9 percent were "moderately" satisfied. An overall mean satisfaction score of 3.41, out of a 5 point scale, identified the nurse group as having the lowest overall satisfaction rating of the seven provider groups. Strengths of the learning experience were the "expertise of the instructor" and "the instructor's ability to explain and demonstrate." Nurses reported that their highest opportunity to participate was through their contribution to the process by which the learning experience was evaluated.

Out of the 19 possible benefits, the most relevant was "becoming better informed about some subject or are of knowledge" and this benefit was also the highest ranked benefit actually received with a mean of 2.91 from the 4 point scale. The second highest benefit actually received was "learning about recent knowledge affecting my work." The overall mean score for the

the lowest actual overall benefit mean score among the seven respondent groups.

### Recommendations for Providers of Educational Programs for Nurses.

- 1. Continue to offer adult education learning experiences.
- 2. Emphasize involvement of the under 25 age group.
- 3. Involve participants in developing the goals and ideas for the learning experience.
- 4. Enhance participant's satisfaction level and benefit level.

  Cooperative Extension Service Pride Group

Summary. There were 130 respondents in the Cooper tive Extension

Service Pride group of which 44.5 percent were married females, 28.9 percent were married males, and 20.3 percent were single females. The largest age category was the 35-49 age range constituting 34.6 percent of the Pride respondents. Over 50 precent of those surveyed were employed full time and 36.2 percent had completed a high school education. The data on the number of adult learning experiences completed in the last two years revealed that 39.5 percent completed 2 or 3 experiences. A voluntary enrollment described 95.4 percent of the Extension Pride respondents. Within the seven voluntary participation reasons, 37.7 percent enrolled to learn more. There was no cost, for the learning experience as reported by 34.1 percent while 26.3 percent indicated that they paid all of the cost of the experience. The length of the learning experience for 40.6 of the respondents was from 1-9 hours. No special recognition was received for successful completion of the learning experience by 66 percent of the Extension Pride group.

\*Approximately 50 percent of the participants were "quite" satisfied with their learning experience. Extension Pride participant's mean score for the satisfaction level of their learning experience was 3.85 on the 5 point

highest in satisfaction. The two highest strength features of the learning experience were "the expertise of leaders and teachers" and "the leader's ability to explain and demonstrate." Extension Pride respondent's opportunity to participate was highest for "sharing their own experiences so that others learn from these."

The most relevant of the 19 benefits was "becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge." This benefit was also the highest ranked actual benefit with a mean of 3.02 from the 4 point scale. The Extension Pride group's overall benefit mean was 2.85.

Recommendations for Providers of Cooperative Extension Service Pride Programs.

- 1. Continue to provide noncredit adult learning experiences for participants since they did benefit from these experiences and they were satisfied with the experiences.
- 2. Continue to employ teachers with high expertise who have the ability to explain and demonstrate.
  - 3. Encourage participation of single males.
  - 4. Encourage—involvement of adults under 25 years of age.
- 5. Encourage involvement of those adults with less than a high school education.
- 6. Give recognition for successful completion of the experience by offering a certificate or another form of appropriate recognition.
- 7. Continue participant sharing of experiences so others can learn from these and encourage participation in setting the goals for the learning experiences and contributing to the evaluation process.



#### Cooperative Extension Service Non Pride Group

Summary. The 71 Cooperative Extension Non Pride survey participants were composed of 43.7 percent married females, 31.0 percent single females, and 18.3 percent married males. Over 50 percent were 25-49 years of age, 69 percent were employed full time, and 84.5 percent enrolled voluntarily. There was no cost for the learning experience reported for 35.2 percent of the participants and 22.5 percent reported paying 100 percent of the cost. No special recognition was awarded for successful completion of the learning experience for 61.3 percent; however, a certificate was awarded to 16.1 percent.

Those non pride participants reporting a "very" satisfied rating for the learning experience consisted of 14.1 percent while 45.1 percent were "quite" satisfied. An overall mean satisfaction score of 3.59 was calculated from the 5 point scale. The most relevant benefit from the possible 19 benefits was "becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge." The non pride respondents scored 2.86 out of a 4 point scale for the actual benefits received from the learning experience.

## Recommendations for Cooperative Extension Service Non Pride Programs.

- 1. Continue to offer noncredit adult learning experiences.
- 2. Encourage participation of single and married males.
- 3. Encourage participation of those persons under 25 years of age and over 49 years of age.
- 4. Offer recognition for successful completion of the learning experience by awarding a certificate.

## Discussion

Date analysis and findings of the research project to determine the benefits and characteristics of noncredit adult learning in Kansas were based upon the responses of 1,334 adults representing seven participant groups.



73

Kansas noncredit adult learners expected their learning experiences to provide the specific benefits of "becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge" and "improving their interest and/or skill in learning more." Three of the five most frequently expected benefit areas were from noneconomic areas; two were from economic areas.

Adult basic education participants stressed expectations for noneconomic areas such as "improved skill in reading, writing, and speaking" in addition to having high expectations for personal development and improvement of learning skills. Business managers and vocational-technical school participants stressed specific subject areas with emphasis on "meeting, developing, and improving job performance skills." Vocational-technical participants stressed "improving interest and skill in learning more." Nurses, Cooperative Extension, and vocational-technical participants were "subject oriented" in their overall expectations. In addition, nurses expected to "gain qualifications for a wide variety of responsibilities." Cooperative Extension Service Pride and Non Pride participants and community college participants were more oriented to "self-improvement" and "learning how to be more effective in politics and government."

Survey respondents reported their lowest expectations for "increasing appreciation of artistic or cultural expressions," "learning consumer skills," and "learning how to be a more effective parent."

Survey respondents also indicated their degree of actual personnel benefit over nineteen benefit areas of noncredit adult education. Overall, the seven respondent groups yielded data stressing both economic and non-economic benefit areas. "Becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge" was the highest rated benefit across the participant groups. In addition, the following benefit areas were also rated high: "learning about recent job knowledge," "preparing for increased responsibilities," and



"benefits related to personal growth and development." Very limited benefits were also perceived relative to "gaining new job qualifications" and "appreciation of art and culture." Survey respondents reported definite benefits over self-improvement and development areas.

Appendix A

		•	1
Learning	Experience		

## SURVEY OF PARTICIPANTS IN HON-CREDIT LEARNING EXPERIENCES FOR ADULTS

#### State of Kansas Board of Regents Office

You recently participated in the learning experience identified at the top of this form. This survey seeks to determine the ways in which that experience benefited or did not benefit you. It is part of a nationwide study of adult learning. By providing your honest reactions, you will help us to develop recommendations which will improve the quality and type of learning opportunities for adults.

To encourage frankness, we are not asking you to identify yourself. Your willingness to give your considered opinion on the questions we ask will be appreciated. Only 10-15 minutes are required.

Ide	ntification (check the one answer to each question which best describes you)
۸.	Sex/Marital Status
	Maie, single (includes divorced and widowed) Female, single (includes divorced and widowed) Maie, married Female, married
в.	Age
	Under 25 years old35-4965 or older
c.	Empl oyment /
	Employed full time Employed part time Employed on an irregular basis Not employed
D.	Education (last grade completed)
	Grade 8 or less  Grade 9-1  Grade 12 (W.5. graduate)  Grade 12 (W.5. graduate)  1-3 years of culiege  Bacheior's degree, college  Post graduate study (graduate school)
ε.	
	During the past two years, in how many "adult learning experiences" similar to the one — identified on the top of this form, have you participated?
	1 (This was the first) 4 or 5 6 or more
F.	Enrollment Reason
	Check the statement which best describes why you participated in this experience.
	It was required by my employer.
	I participated voluntarily because: (check all that apply)
	I wanted to improve my chances for promotion.  I wanted to overcome an educational weakness.  I wanted to learn more, expand my mind.  I wanted to develop a special skill.  I wanted to improve my financial status  I wanted to increase my social contacts (meet new people, etc.)  Others (specify)



77

#### II. Benefits

Each adult learning experience has its own purposes; as a result, different experiences have different kinds of value or benefit to the participant. In this section, a number of possible benefits are described. For each, please check in Column 1 (Relevance) whether or not the benefit was something your learning experience was expected to provide.

Then, for those benefits for which you checked "yes" in Column 1, use Column 2 to indicate your judgment of the degree to which you were personally benefited. To do this, circle the appropriate letter:

- N means that you experienced little or no benefit some benefit, but not a great deal means that you experienced definite benefit
- G means that you experienced great benefit

	·					•		
1		Column 1 Relevance		Column 2 - Value (To be answered if "yes" was checked				
	Possible Benefits	<u>Yes</u>	<u>No</u>	in Column 1				
1.	Improving skill in reading, writing, or speaking			H	S	D	C	
2.	Learning how to be a more effective consumer			N	S	D	C	
3.	Learning how to be a more effective parent			н	S	D	C	
<b>4.</b>	Learning how to be a more effective participant in polítics or government			. N	S	D	C	
5.	Becoming better informed about some subject or area of knowledge			N	S	υ	G	
6.	Improving my interest and/or skill in learning more			N	S	D	C	
7.	Developing a sense of self-reliance or independence		<del></del>	N	S	D	C	
8.	Developing positive feelings about myself and my worth as a person	<del></del>		N	S	D	G	
9.	Becoming more tolerant and respectful of others, even if they differ from me in their opinions or conduct	•		N	S	D	G	
0.	Developing a personal set of principles and beliefs that determine what is right and wrong for me			N	S	D	C	
1.	Developing skills and/or interests in hobbles or other free-time activities			N	S	D	G	
2.	Increasing appreciation of artistic or cultural expressions (art, music, drama, dance, poetry, etc.)			N	S	D <b>k</b>	G	
3.	Gaining-satisfaction from being involved in self- improvement			N	S	D	G	
4.	Becoming qualified for an entry-level position		•	N	\$	U	G	
<b>5.</b>	Preparing to handle increased responsibilities which will make my job more important	-	<del> </del>	N	S	D	G	
6.	Increasing my job earnings by improving my qualifications			N	S	D .	G	
7.	Learning about recent knowledge affecting my work		<del></del>	N	<b>S</b> .	D	G	
8.	Mecoming qualified for a new and different job		<del></del>	N	S	D	C	
9.	Gaining qualifications which enable me to assume a wider variety of responsibilities			N	S	ď	C	
0.	Other (specify)							
				N	S	0	C	



>

<b>-</b> '	A,	Overall, how satisfied were you	with the learn	ing exper	lence?	•			•		
		Not at all; I was quite of	ilsappointed					•			
		Slightly; I am not enthus				£,					
		Moderately; it was worth		rs to part	ticinate.	•		•			
		Very satisfied; it was or				ened to	me t	his	ye	<b>a</b> r	
	8.	Please rate the degree to which a "strength" or "weakness" by c	each of the follicing the appr	llowing for coprising the second seco	eatures of letters.	the lear	ning	ex	рег	l'enc	e wa
		DW means "Definite weakness"	•	<del>.</del>	•		•			•	
		W means "Hore a weakness th	nan a strength"		•	,	•				, •
		S means "More a strength the DS means "Definite strength"			. 6	4 .				٠.	
		NR means "Not relevant; does		* •	`•					•	
		Features					١			٠	
		•		• 4 4	<b>.</b>				_		
		1. The knowledge or profession 2. The ability of the leader(s) 3. The equipment					DW DW	W	5 5 5	DS DS DS	NR NR NR
		4. The learning materials suppl	lied (books, pa	mphlets,	practice ma	terials		W	S	DS	NR
		<ol> <li>Having enough time to learn</li> <li>Availability of individual I</li> </ol>	help				- DW DW	W	5	DS DS	NR NR
		7. "Homework" assignments, pro			٠,		DW	W	S		NR
	c.	Indicate to what extent you were experience by circling the appro	e given an oppo opriate letters	rtunity t	o participa	te in ti	ne le	arn	ing		
		LD means "Large degree"	•								
		MD means "Moderate degree"	٠,		•					· ·	
		SD means "Small degree" ND, means "Not at all"		•	6						
		To what extent were the particle	pants given an (	opportuni	ty to:		•		ંડ		
		1) Participate to developing to	La garte and 1d	•	ha lasaslas		7			n (	
		<ol> <li>Participate in developing to</li> <li>Share their own experiences</li> </ol>					ence :	-10			N OX
		3) Contribute to the process b					ted?	LU	H		N G
	D.	Indicate the approximate percen	t you contribut	ed toward	the cost o	f the le	earni	ina	exo	eric	ence.
			,	ತ		•		-	•	•	
			25-499 50-749				- 100	·99% %	•		
	•	Vallanta the tree of managethic	· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		; . • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	*	-			•	
	E.	Indicate the type of recognition ience.	n or reward you	receivea	Trom atten	aing th	e lea	3CU1	.ng	expe	:r-
		No special recognition o	r reward		A certific						
		CEU credit Increased salary aspect			Promotiona Other (spe						
	_				•	· · · · /			_		
	r.	Indicate the total length of the	e learning expe	rience in	hours.	•					
•	•	1-9	20-29				40-49				•
	•	10-17	30-39		•		50 or	r mo	re		•
	_		n varanting of the second of	i							
	C.	Please describe briefly	^	•		•			•		
,		1. The most important things yo	u got out of th			e:					
					,				-		
		2. The best thing about the exp	erjence:						•		
			<del></del>								
		3. The worst thing about the ex	perlence:		,						/
				,							
			· · · · ·						-		· ·
		) for your assistance. Please re	turn the comple	ted surv	ey in the	encios	ed s	e I (	- 40	dre	ssed
wst4	Se.	ree envelope.		Ma							

**7**9

**•** 59

The Learning Experience

ERIC

## REFERENCES

- Board of Regents, State of Kansas. Continuing Education Study. Council of Chief Academic Officers. Topeka, Kansas, 1977.
- Continuing Education: Needs and Interests of Kansas Adults. Office of Special Instructional Programs. Topeka: Washburn University, 1980.
- Cross, K. P. Adults as Learners. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, 1981.
- Downie, N.\* M. and Heath, R. W. Basic Statistical Methods. New York: Harper and Row Publishers, 1974.
  - Hoyt; D. P. Appraisal of Interest in Continuing Education Opportunities
    Among Kansas Adults. Manhattan, Kansas State University, 1975.
  - National Center for Education Statistics. Participation in Adult Education, Final Report, 1981. Washington, D. C.: National Center for Educational Statistics and U. S. Department of Education, 1982.
  - Oaklief, C. R. The Benefits and Characteristics of Adult Learning in Kansas:

    A Survey of Participants in Noncredit Learning Experiences. A Report to the Education Commission of the States and the Kansas Board of Regents.

    Manhattan: Kansas State University, 1982.
  - Peterson, R. E. and Associates. <u>Lifelong Learning in America</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, 1979.



80